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ViSION 

To be a strong, credible, impartial and effective regulator

MISSION

To protect users of fi nancial services in the areas of insurance, securities and pensions 

by fostering the integrity, stability and health of the fi nancial sector through the efforts 

of competent and committed employees

CORE VALUES:

ACCOUNTABILITY

COMMUNICATION

CONFIDENTIALITY

EXCELLENCE

SERVICE

INTEGRITY

TEAMWORK

TRANSPARENCY

STATUTORY DUTIES:
For the purpose of protecting customers of fi nancial services, the FSC is 

mandated, by Section 6 of the Financial Services Commission Act, with the 

discharge of the following duties:  

• Supervise and regulate prescribed fi nancial institutions; 

• Promote the adoption of procedures designed to control and 

 manage risk, for use by the management, boards of directors and 

 trustees of such institutions; 

• Promote stability and public confi dence in the operations of such 

 institutions; 

• Promote public understanding of the operation of prescribed 

 fi nancial institutions;

• Promote the modernization of fi nancial services with a view to the 

 adoption and maintenance of international standards of 

 competence, effi ciency and competitiveness.
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Executive management

FRONT:
 Janet Johnson-Haughton - Director, Compliance and Internal Control
   Everton McFarlane - Senior Director, Securities
    Janice Holness  -  Director Investigations & Enforcement
     Angela Beckford - Chief Actuary  
      Nicolette Jenez -  Senior Director, Pensions 
BACK:

      George Roper -  Deputy Executive Director      
       Rohan Barnett - Executive Director
        Loretta Reid-Pitt -  General Counsel   
        Sheila Martin -  Senior Director, Corporate Services
         Leon Anderson  -  Senior Director, Insurance           
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN
Hon. Emil George, OJ,QC 

In the fi scal year 2009-2010, similar to other econ-

omies, the Jamaican economy continued to 

grapple with the immense negative effects as-

sociated with the global recession - a product of 

the international fi nancial turmoil that began in 

the United States.  While many leaders devised 

policy actions to improve their country’s mac-

roeconomic environment, the Group of Twenty 

Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors 

(“G20”) formulated strategies to stimulate the 

global economy.  The G20 also charged the 

international standard-setting bodies through 

the Financial Stability Board (“FSB”) to promote 

fi nancial stability by (i) strengthening fi nancial 

regulation, and (ii) identifying and addressing 

emerging vulnerabilities in the fi nancial system.  

Likewise the Government of Jamaica (“GOJ”) 

embarked on a macroeconomic reform pro-

gramme to create conditions for growth.  This 

programme involves a borrowing relationship 

with the International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) 

and has three main components, namely: 

i. A fi scal consolidation strategy, focused 

 on streamlining the government’s ex-

 penditure and reforming the public

 sector, including  the divestment

 of non-core public bodies; 

ii. A comprehensive debt management  

 strategy that decisively addresses 

 the debt overhang, a component of 

 which  was  the Jamaica Debt Ex-

 change (“JDX”) initiative;    

 and 

iii. Further strengthening of the fi nancial  

 system by reforming the regulatory  

 framework.

Strengthening of the Regulatory 
Framework

To enhance the regulatory framework, the 

government has decided to modify the 

regulatory landscape by (i) rectifying certain 

defi ciencies which had stifl ed the develop-

ment of the fi nancial markets in Jamaica and 

(ii) implementing other measures designed to 

enhance overall fi nancial system stability.  

Recent regulatory changes made in relation 

to the unit trust industry are an example of 

the measures that are designed to strength-

en the regulatory framework to allow for the 

development of the Jamaican fi nancial markets.    

These changes allowed the government to lift a 

moratorium on the granting of approv-

als for new unit trusts as well as new unit trust 

products which had been imposed during the 

late 1990’s.    This was announced on the 18th of 

February, 2010, by the Minister of Finance and the 

Public Service (“Minister of Finance”). This event 

was of great signifi cance to the FSC as (i) this 

announcement was made well in advance of 

the December 2010 deadline agreed between 

the IMF and the GOJ, and (ii) a unit trust inves-

tor now has a similar level of protection to that 

afforded an investor in a mutual fund registered 

under the Securities (Mutual Funds) Regulations 

(“MFR”).1   

However, much more needs to be done in 

fully developing this sector. With regards to mu-

tual funds, the government has reiterated its 

commitment to removing structural impediments 

to the development of a vibrant local mutual 

fund market.  One such proposal that is being 

examined is the exemption of mutual funds from 

certain onerous provisions of the Companies Act

 1 Securities Industry Advisory: New Requirements for Unit Trusts, August 21, 2009 SR-ADVI-09/08-0003
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of Jamaica by December 2010. The FSC with the 

assistance of the Caribbean Regional Technical 

Assistance Centre (“CARTAC”) is still conduct-

ing technical work towards the development of

comprehensive collective investment scheme 

legislation.  The aim is to not only focus on 

mutual funds, but to also enable the securi-

ties industry to accommodate other collective 

investment vehicles such as hedge funds and 

private equity funds for more sophisticated 

investors.   

An example of an initiative designed to 

enhance the overall stability of the fi nancial 

sector is the strengthening of the regulatory 

and supervisory framework applicable to the 

operations of securities dealers. This 

includes improving capitalization and margin 

requirements to mitigate against liquidity and 

operational risks.  With these reforms in mind 

and the need for the securities industry to 

move away from the dominance of the 

current repo model and thus diversify their 

income stream, the FSC has implemented a 

temporary freeze on the issuance of new 

licenses for securities dealers whose business 

models are based on the issuance of repos and 

other short term liabilities to non-fi nancial 

clients.  

Other plans under the regulatory reforms 

include the following: 

•  Amending the Securities Act (“SA”) to 

    include provisions that will among other

        things:

 o Defi ne, prohibit and sanction Ponzi/ 

    pyramid schemes; 

 o Broaden the power of the FSC to 

    effectively investigate violations of 

                 the SA; and 

 o Provide the FSC with the power to 

                  seek civil monetary penalties for all 

                  SA violations. 

• The Bank of Jamaica Act and the Financial      

   Services Commission Act will both be amend-                    

   ed to further strengthen supervisory tools 

   especially in the area of conducting 

   consolidated supervision.

Whilst these regulatory reforms were listed 

as part of the conditionalities of the IMF’s 

Stand-By Agreement with the Government of 

Jamaica, they served as measures to quickly 

rectify the defi ciencies that were identifi ed by 

the FSC through its own internal reviews and are 

consistent with FSC’s drive to comply with 

international standards and core principles of 

regulation established by key standard setting 

bodies.  

Intensifi ed Monitoring and 
Supervision

Under the Memorandum of Economic and 

Financial Policies agreed between the IMF 

and the GOJ, the entire fi nancial system came 

under more intense surveillance.  With regards 

to the non-deposit-taking sectors – insurance, 

securities and pensions – the FSC played a 

signifi cant role enabling in aiding the govern-

ment to honour its obligations.  This was and 

continues to be done through the following 

methods:

• In weekly meetings with representa- 

 tives from both the Ministry of Finance  

 and the BOJ, the FSC provides a 

 weekly update on the non-deposit-

 taking sectors. These meetings exam- 

 ine the potential adverse impact of 

 local and international macro-

 economic developments and aim 

 to devise mitigating strategies, if 

 necessary.  
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• Twelve (12) securities fi rms, accounting  

 for over 75 percent of the funds under  

 management in the securities industry,  

 submit weekly reports to the FSC.  

• The FSC compiles monthly industry 

 reports outlining the fi nancial affairs   

 of the securities and insurance sectors.  

 These reports are used to assess the  

 performance and health of the indus- 

 tries.  Stress testing and scenario 

 analysis are also conducted. With 

 regards to the pension sector, an 

 annual report detailing the strength 

 of the industry is also to be submitted 

 to the fund.

• The FSC is currently developing new  

 indicators and refi ning its existing early  

 warning ratios to provide more insight- 

 ful information to detect emerging 

 issues.     

Protecting Users of Non Deposit-
Taking Financial Institutions

The above mentioned initiatives will not only 

enhance the soundness and health of fi nan-

cial institutions, but also help to protect fi nan-

cial customers by offering a stronger regulatory 

environment to secure their assets.  During the 

reporting period, on a whole, the insurance 

securities and pensions sectors continue to be 

profi table and fi nancially sound.  While a few 

general insurance companies did not achieve 

the Minimum Asset Test (“MAT”) threshold of 135 

percent, the MAT results nonetheless indicate 

that all the companies have more than enough 

assets to honour their normal claims obligations.  

The FSC will continue to closely monitor and 

work with these companies and the industry 

with respect to the improvement of their MAT 

results.  The pension industry continues to grow 

as demonstrated by the increasing number of 

approved pension service providers and addi-

tional pension plans approved during the fi scal 

year.

Meanwhile, the FSC continues to press on with 

its campaign to protect the users of fi nancial 

services on other avenues.  These include, but 

are not limited to:

(i) Promoting public understanding of 

 the fi nancial system.  In addition to the  

 regular forums, seminars and com-

 munity interactive talks, the FSC has  

 been conducting preliminary work  

 aimed at fostering the implementation  

 of a national fi nancial education 

 programme involving a partnership  

 with other stakeholders in both the  

 public and private sectors.  This pro- 

 gramme aims to empower Jamaicans  

 with the skills necessary to employ  pru- 

 dent money management in order to  

 save and create wealth while honour- 

 ing fi nancial obligations and reducing  

 exposure to risk and fraud;  

(ii) Reducing the extent to which it is pos- 

 sible for non-deposit–taking institu-

 tions to be used for money launder-

 ing.  There have been some 

 complaints from policyholders and the 

 players in the general insurance indus- 

 try that the information which is 

 required to comply with the Proceeds 

 of Crime Act (“POCA”) is pervasive,  

 intrusive and also increases administra-

 tive expenses.   Signifi cantly Jamaica is 

 signatory to “the Vienna Convention”  

 and has membership in international  

 standard setting and regulatory 

 bodies.  
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 The regulators and fi nancial institutions  

 are required under the international  

 commitments made by Jamaica and  

 by laws enacted to give effect to  

 those commitments, to implement  

 measures to detect and report any 

 asset that may have been acquired 

 by illegal activities.  The FSC will contin-

 ue to work with the insurance industry  

 to make these measures less inconve-

 nient while adhering to Jamaican law  

 and international obligations;

(iii) Advocating greater utilisation of sound  

 corporate governance and risk man- 

 agement practices by fi nancial 

 service  providers;  

(iv) Enhancing the regulatory framework  

 by continuing the Pension Phase II re- 

 form process and modifying existing  

 Acts, regulations and guidelines.  In 

 addition, the FSC continues to work  

 together with the Jamaica Deposit In 

 surance Company, and the non-

 deposit taking fi nancial institutions in 

 establishing a compensation scheme  

 for the insurance, securities and 

 pension industries;

(v) Participating in a number of interna- 

 tional initiatives through  its member-

 ship in bodies  such as the Internation

 al Organisation of Securities Commis- 

 sion (“IOSCO”), International Associa- 

 tion of Insurance Supervisors (“IAIS”)  

 and the International Organisation of  

 Pension Supervisors (“IOPS”); and

(vi) Promoting greater cooperation and 

 communication among the members  

 of the Financial Regulatory Council  

 (“FRC”) and among regional regula- 

 tors.  The FSC currently serves as   

 a. The website administrator for 

  the Caribbean Group of Secu-

  rities Regulators (“CGSR”); 

 b. The secretariat for the Caribbe-

  an Association of Insurance

   Regulators (“CAIR”);  and

 c. The secretariat and president  

  of the recently established  

  Caribbean Association of Pen- 

  sion Supervisors (“CAPS”).   

Improving Effi ciency

It is customary for both government and private 

fi rms to examine their modus operandi in order to 

seek and gain greater effi ciency.  Similarly, the 

FSC has begun an exercise to examine its existing 

organisational structure, staffi ng arrangements 

and compensation policies.  The expected out-

come is that the FSC will be able to reorganize   

more effectively to (i) discharge its functions and 

responsibilities and (ii) continue to recruit, moti-

vate and retain highly qualifi ed and technically 

competent staff.  I believe that this assessment 

is timely given the current macroeconomic en-

vironment.  Furthermore, it is consistent with the 

government’s commitment to improve effi cien-

cy in the public sector. 

I wish to thank the Honourable Audley Shaw, 

Minister of Finance, for regularly making himself 

available to me whenever necessary. I would 

like to also thank the Commissioners, manage-

ment and staff of the FSC for their tremendous 

effort and dedication during a very challenging, 

but productive year.  During the year, two of our 

commissioners resigned. We take this opportunity 

to express our appreciation to Mrs Celia Brown-

Blake and Mrs. Audley Welds for their exception-

al service which helped to guide the FSC.  Let me 

also express the FSC’s appreciation to the many 

individuals and organisations for the feedback 

and other forms of interest shown in our regulato-

ry activities.  We regulate:   but also facilitate the 

progress of insurance, securities and pensions in 

Jamaica.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The FSC is governed by a Board of Commis-

sioners consisting of a Chairman, the Executive 

Director (ex offi cio) and up to eight (8) other 

members.  Each Commissioner, with the excep-

tion of the Executive Director, is appointed by 

the Minister of Finance for a term of up to fi ve 

years and may be reappointed to serve addi-

tional terms.  The Board of Commissioners ap-

points the Executive Director and has the basic 

functions of providing operational oversight to 

the FSC and making policy and supervisory de-

cisions as it relates to the supervision of the insur-

ance, securities and private pensions industries. 

Five committees of the Board have been estab-

lished to ensure full coverage with the appropri-

ate depth of review of all matters within its pur-

view.  Three of these fi ve committees – namely 

the Securities, Insurance and Pensions Commit-

tees - provide oversight and guidance with re-

spect to supervision and regulation pertaining 

to the respective industries.  Another commit-

tee is the Human Resources and Administra-

tion Committee which has the responsibility to 

consider, recommend and report on all matters 

relating to staff including salaries and benefi ts, 

personnel policies and procedures, manage-

ment information systems, procurement con-

tracts, premises and other administrative issues.  

The fi fth committee is the Finance and Audit 

Committee and its objective is to consider, 

recommend and report on all matters relat-

ing to the fi nancial affairs of the FSC including 

the monthly and annual fi nancial statements 

and the annual budget.  This Committee also 

reviews and recommends the fee structure for 

the regulatory services provided by the FSC.  

The members of each committee and the num-

ber of meetings for each committee are shown 

in Tables 1 and 2 respectively.  Tables 43 and 44 

on page 70 provide information on the remu-

neration paid to Commissioners and the Execu-

tive Management Team.
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Table 1: Composition of the Board Committees, 2009-2010

Table 2: Number of Board and Committee Meetings Held in 2009/2010



After a global decline in late 2008 and early 

2009, the global economy began showing signs 

of recovery in late 2009 which continued into 

the fi rst quarter of 2010.  According to the IMF,

“... global production and trade bounced back 

in the second half of 2009, and confi dence re-

bounded strongly on both the fi nancial and 

real fronts, as extraordinary policy support fore-

stalled another Great Depression.” 
2

  
In addition, the World Economic Situation and 

Prospects, a product of the United Nations 

(“UN”), has indicated that the “… global equity 

markets have also rebounded and risk premi-

ums on borrowing have fallen.” 
3
 

However, the IMF and other international institu-

tions continued to warn that despite these en-

couraging developments, the global economic 

recovery remains fragile.

For the local economy, in the fi rst quarter of 

2009, the stock market main index declined 

by 9 percent, while the Jamaican dollar came 

under extreme pressure; consequently, it lost 15 

percent of its value.  Whilst infl ation pressures 

slightly subsided, interest rates remained high 

in order to contain instability in the foreign ex-

change market and hence opportunities were 

available in the bond and money markets in 

2009. 

The environment settled down a bit by the end 

of June as the macroeconomic variables began 

to demonstrate mixed results.  This settling down 

was evidenced by the fact that, the exchange 

rate began to stabilize with the intervention of 

the BOJ, the Net International Reserves (NIR) 

was at an adequate level, and there were 

signs of lower infl ationary pressures.  With in-

creasing anticipation of infl ows from multi-

lateral agencies and Balance of Payment sup-

port from the IMF, there was less pressure on the 

dollar and the central bank began to reduce 

interest rates.  Following a successful Jamaica 

Debt Exchange Initiative, the 180-Treasury bill 

rate stood at 10.49 percent by the end of March 

2010.  

Given the reduction in interest rates, investors re-

gained their attraction towards the equities mar-

ket.  The Jamaica Stock Exchange (“JSE”) grew 

by 4 percent in 2009 unlike the 26 percent fall in 

2008. The strong appeal to the equities market 

has also been evident on the JSE’s Junior Stock 

Market where the two offers of shares listed on 

the Junior Market have been oversubscribed in 

record time.  These developments on the stock 

exchange provided more investment opportu-

nities for securities fi rms and their clients alike.

On the other hand, the unemployment rate – 

another key macro economic indicator – con-

tinued on its upward and worsening trend.  

Table 3 depicts the trend in selected macro 

indicators.    

executive director’s report
Rohan Barnett 
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 2 World Economic Outlook Update, January 26, 2010, See http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2010/update/01/ 

 3 United Nations World Economic Situation and Prospects (WESP) See http://www.un.org/esa/policy/wess/wesp.html



Note: 

A: For 2007-2009, the infl ation rate shown is for the calendar year while for 2010, the rate is for the fi rst quarter of the calendar year.

B: The unemployment rate shown for 2010 is for the 3- month period ending April 2010

THE JAMAICAN FINANCIAL SYSTEM

Aggregate total assets of the regulated Jamaican fi nancial system continue to grow (See Ta 

ble 4).
4   

The combined total assets of $1,518.2 bilion for the fi nancial system amounted to 139.1 

percent of nominal GDP (2008: $1,431.3 billion or 136.6 percent of GDP).   For FSC-regulated 

institutions
5
, total assets grew by 9.5 percent in 2009 compared to the 15.4 percent in 2008. 

4 In Table 4, fi nancial institutions are classifi ed according to their regulatory reporting status as: (a) institutions regulated by the FSC, 
comprising entities offering services related to insurance, securities and pensions; and (b) deposit-taking institutions, which comprise 
commercial banks, building societies, merchant banks and credit unions.  For the purpose of this report, institutions comprising the 
regulated fi nancial system are shown in Table 4. There are other institutions that are regulated by the BOJ and the FSC and not 
included in Table 4. See BOJ’s website for the complete listing of its regulated entities. The BOJ is awaiting approval of regulations 
for the supervision of credit unions.
 
5 The data and analysis on FSC-regulated institutions provided in this report do not cover several types of entities that are regulated 
by the FSC. The entities that are not covered include: individuals licensed as securities dealers, insurance brokers (including, faculta-
tive and reinsurance brokers), insurance agents, insurance consultants, insurance loss adjusters, pension fund trustees and pension 
fund administrators.  In Table 4, the assets shown are balance sheet assets as reported at the end of the calendar year and do not 
include pension fund assets.  Pension fund assets are part of the funds under management of licensed securities dealers shown in 
Table 17.
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Table 3: Selected Key Macro Indicators for Jamaica, 2007-2010



Notes:

The above total asset fi gures are as at end of each calendar year. 

See footnote 5 in the text for a description of the FSC-regulated institutions not included in this table.   

Securities licensees are characterized as “securities fi rms” and “non-securities fi rms”. The former group are licensed securities dealers 

that engage in securities dealing as a principal activity while the latter group are securities licensees that do not deal in securities 

as a principal activity but who are, nevertheless, required to obtain a securities dealer’s licence in order to conduct some aspects 

of their business. Securities fi rms are defi ned to include unit trust managers. Non-securities fi rms include several deposit-taking institu-

tions and to avoid double counting non-securities fi rms are not   shown in this table under “FSC-regulated” institutions.  

The total asset fi gures for credit unions for 2008 and 2009 are preliminary.

Source:  Data compiled by Bank of Jamaica, Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League and the FSC

 

6 Run-off mode means the company is not underwriting or assuming any new risk and not making any renewals, however it continues 
to service its existing policyholders until the insurance policies expire and claims have been settled.

7 Gross Premium Written (“GPW”) is the sum of gross direct premium written and reinsurance assumed.
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THE GENERAL INSURANCE INDUSTRY

In 2009, while there were 12 registered general or non-life insurance companies, one registrant -Island 

Heritage Insurance Company (“IHIC”) - has decided to stop writing new business and hence is classifi ed as 

being in “run-off mode”6.     Total combined assets (excluding IHIC) amounted to $44.9 billion (2008 

December 31: $43.3 billion).  Table 5 shows the trend in selected key indicators for the general 

insurance industry.   Aggregate gross premium written7 grew by 5.3 percent to $24.5 billion.  While Table 

6 shows the gross premium written (“GPW”) by each company, Table 7 displays the GPW by class of 

business.  As seen in table 7, the property and motor classes of business account for over 90 percent 

of total GPW. 

Table 4:  Total Assets by Type of Financial Institution, December 2007 - 2009 
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Table 6: Premiums Generated By General Insurance Companies For The Years 
Ended December 31, 2007 - 2009.

Table 7: GPW by Line of Business, General Insurance Industry, 2007-2009.

Note:

1: This includes capital, retained 

earnings, investment and capital 

reserves. The capital displayed in 

the above table is the statutory 

or regulatory capital. It excludes 

certain forms of capital. As a result, 

capital base plus total liabilities will 

not be equal to total assets.

Table 5: Selected Key Indicators for General Insurance Companies, 2007 - 2009

Notes: Gross written premium is the total of gross direct premium written and reinsurance 

assumed.

A: Audited data.
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Profi tability

For the calendar year ended 2009, the com-

bined total income
8 

of the general insurance 

companies grew by 4.7 percent to $16.8 billion, 

whilst their total expenses including taxes in-

creased by 11.5 percent to $15.1 billion.  Conse-

quently aggregate net income after taxes was 

$1.7 billion. Table 8 shows a three-year trend for 

main income and expense categories.  

As seen in the Table 8, NPE grew marginally 

by 1.8 percent in 2009 and therefore no real 

growth occurred as competition intensifi ed

among the companies resulting in discounted

premiums.  The increase in net investment in-

come refl ects the rise in the market interest 

rates with the average 6-month Treasury bill rate

moving from 15.9 to 19.9 percent in 2009. Other

Table 8: Combined Summary Operations for the General Insurance Companies, 2007-2009

income declined by 23 percent in 2009, how-

ever, it should be noted that the amount for 

2008 was bolstered by gains of $192.5 million on 

the disposal of shares in a related company.   In 

2009, foreign exchange gains accounted for 90 

percent (2008: 75 percent) of other income as 

the Jamaican dollar devaluated against the 

US.

Acquisition expense for the industry fell signifi -

cantly as the industry ceded more insur-

ance business to overseas reinsurers (See 

Figure 1) and hence commission received 

was greater than commission paid to 

local insurance agents and brokers.  Combined 

industry operating expenses grew by 12.5 per-

cent due to increased staff benefi ts.   

8
  Total Revenue is the sum of Net Premium Earned (“NPE”), Net Investment Income, and Other Income. NPE is calculated as GPW less reinsurance 

ceded minus any increase or plus    any decrease in net unearned premiums.
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Aggregate claims, which have consistently ac-

counted for over 60 percent of total expenses 

in 2007-2009, were propelled by an additional 

$1.1 billion in motor vehicle claims for the indus-

try in 2009.  Figure 2 shows the claims ratios for 

the two key business segments of the insurance 

industry. 

Capital

With the uptick seen on the JSE, the industry’s in-

vestment and capital reserves - components of 

the regulatory capital base for insurance com-

panies - have recovered some $353.8 million of 

the $1 billion lost by the end of 2008.  Aggregate 

retained earnings grew by 12.7 percent to $8.4 

billion; consequently, the combined capital

base of insurance companies increased by 9.9 

percent to $14.4 billion.

The main indicator of capital adequacy cur-

rently used for general insurance companies is 

the Minimum Assets Test (“MAT”)
9
.   In 2008, the 

benchmark for the industry was raised to 135% 

from the 120% in 2007.  At the end of 2009, the 

weighted average MAT ratio for all general in-

surance companies was 138.5 percent, only 

marginally above the 133.5 percent in 2008.  

This result indicates that as a group the insur-

ance companies’ assets exceeded liabilities by 

a margin that is over 30 percent, which means 

that the companies have a considerable buffer 

of capital to absorb adverse shocks.  

 
9  The MAT establishes a minimum ratio of available assets of a predefi ned quality to liabilities.

THE LIFE INSURANCE INDUSTRY 

Aggregate total assets of the life insurance in-

dustry, comprising of fi ve (5) life insurance com-

panies, totalled $153.3 billion (December 2008: 

$127 billion); this represents an increase of 20.7 

percent over 2008.  Table 9 illustrates other key 

fi nancial indicators.  While Table 10 shows the 

GPW by each company, Table 11 displays the 

GPW by class of business. 

Notes:

1: This includes capital, retained earnings, investment and 

capital reserves. The capital displayed in the above table is 

the statutory or regulatory capital.  It excludes certain forms 

of capital.  As a result, capital base plus total liabilities will not 

be equal to total assets.

Table 9: Selected Key Indicators for the Life 
Insurance Companies, 2007 - 2009
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Table 10: GPW Generated By The Life Insurance Companies For The Years 

Ended December 31, 2007 - 2009.10 

 10  In 2008, Blue Cross of Jamaica (BCJ) was acquired by Sagicor Life Insurance Company.  For the 11-month period ended 
November 2008, total gross premiums written by BCJ amounted to $1.98 billion.

Table 11: GPW by Line of Business, Life Insurance 
Industry, 2007-2009

Profi tability

The year ended December 31, 2009 was 

another profi table year for the life insur-

ance industry.  Table 12 highlights the net 

income generated for the years 2007-

2009. 

The chief contributor to the decline in 

NPE was a reduction in premium in-

come for single premium annuities.  In 

one-off transaction, approximately $6 

billion in premium was generated from 

single premium annuities sold in 2008 

to a major client.  As seen in Table 11, 

there was grown in all other lines of busi-

ness.  Net investment income rose by 

58.8 percent due to (i) increased yield 

on GOJ securities during the fi rst quarter 

of the calendar year, (ii) the recovery 

made by stock prices on the JSE, and 

(iii) the growth of assets in the invest-

ment portfolio.  Other income climbed 

due to increases in (i) management

fees on segregated funds and (ii) other fees 

chargeable to their clients. 

The industry seems to have contained op-

erating expenses which was increased by 

only 1.5 percent in 2009.  On the other hand 

policy benefi ts grew by some 39 percent.  

Table 13 shows the movement in the differ-

ent categories that constitute policy benefi ts. 

Figure 3 shows the percentage of NPE con-

sumed by the main expense category.
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Table 12: Combined Summary Operations for the Life Insurance Companies, 2007-2009 

Table 13: Aggregate Policy Benefi ts, Life Insurance Companies, 2007-2009 
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Capital

In 2009, the life insurance companies recorded 

improved levels of capital adequacy.  For life 

insurance companies, regulatory capital ad-

equacy is assessed using the Minimum Con-

tinuing Capital and Surplus Ratio (“MCCSR”)11.     

At the end of 2009, the weighted average 

MCCSR for the life insurance sector stood at 

798.8 percent, which signifi cantly exceeded 

both the regulatory benchmark of 135 per-

cent and the weighted average MCCSR level 

of 512.6 percent recorded in 2008.  The com- 

bined investment and capital reserves for life

insurers recovered some of the ground that 

was lost in 2008 and amounted to $600 

million by the end of 2009.  Retained earn-

ings grew by 33 percent to $29 billion.  

Consequently, the combined total capital base 

grew by 29.7 percent to $39.3 billion.

 11  In assessing the adequacy of capital in relation to liabilities, the FSC relies on the Minimum Continuing Capital and Surplus Re-
quirement (“MCCSR”).  The MCCSR is a risk-based solvency test which determines the capital required based on an assessment of 
the level of risk embodied in the asset and liability profi le of a life insurance company.
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Table 14:  Number of Securities Dealers by Type of Licensee, 2007-2009

THE SECURITIES INDUSTRY

Structure of the Industry
Licensed securities dealers in the securities in-

dustry are categorized into two main groups: 

securities fi rms and non-securities fi rms. 12  As at 

December 31, 2009; forty-eight (48) fi rms were 

licensed under the Securities Act (2001) (“Secu-

rities Act”) and Regulations. (Table 14)

Securities dealers are licensed to engage in 

securities dealing activities with instruments 

which fall within the Securities Act’s defi nition 

of a security.  These activities include, but are 

not restricted to: stock brokering; providing in-

vestment advice; and trading in equities, bonds

and commercial paper.  The major players in 

the market are engaged in high levels of bal-

ance sheet intermediation by way of offering 

“Repos” to their clients.  Repo liabilities account 

for 57 per cent of the total funds under manage-

ment (“FUM”).  Many of these fi rms have also 

acquired cambio licences from the BOJ and are 

involved in foreign exchange trading. Securities 

fi rms represent 62.2 percent of the securities in-

dustry by total assets (81.8 percent of FUM); as 

a result this review concentrates on this group.

Performance of Securities 
Firms 2009

At the end of 2009, total assets stood at $512 

billion; this represents a 7 percent growth over 

the year ended December 31, 2008.  The securi-

ties fi rms have also recorded an increase in the 

total FUM during the review period.  FUM grew 

marginally by 2 percent over December 2008 

and stood at $660 billion.  Securities fi rms were 

required to inject capital to strengthen their 

capital position.  The margin calls experienced 

in 2008 served as a warning to many fi rms that 

a robust capital base remains a critical pre-

condition for fi rms maintaining their status as 

going-concerns.  The capital base of securities 

fi rms grew by 29 percent during 2009. Tables 15 

– 17 provide information on the structure and 

performance of the securities industry in terms 

of assets, capital and FUM.

 12 The securities fi rms as classifi ed include securities dealers, which are those licensed dealers engaged in securities dealing as a prin-
cipal activity; as well as Unit Trusts Management Companies.  The non-securities fi rms are those dealers that do not deal in securities 
as a principal activity, but who are required to obtain a securities dealer’s licence in order to conduct some aspect of their business.
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Table 15: Total Assets of the Securities Industry by Type of Securities Licensee, 2007-2009

Table 16: Total Capital of the Securities Industry by Type of Securities Licensee, 2007-2009

Table 17: Total Funds Under Management of the Securities Industry by Type of Securities 
Licensee, 2007-2009
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Profi tability

Despite the turbulent economic climate in 

Jamaica, the securities industry continued to 

display signs of resilience.  Net income before 

taxes amounted $23 billion during 2009, repre-

senting an increase of 23 percent relative to 

the previous year.  This growth occurred in the 

context of a 53 percent increase in net interest 

income which stood at $15 billion for the review 

period ($10 billion: 2008).   Relatively high inter-

est rates offered on GOJ securities, combined 

with an upward shift of the yield curve, were 

important factors infl uencing this performance.  

Average yields for 2009 stood at approximate-

ly 20 percent compared with 16 percent in 

200813. Net interest earnings from assets fi -

nanced by repurchase agreements with retail 

clients would have particularly benefi ted from 

this shift in the yield curve.14   Firms continue to 

be heavily reliant on income generated by in-

terest earned

from their Repo business.    Net interest income 

accounted for 72 percent of the fi rms total in-

come stream, up from 50 percent in 2008; see 

Figure 4.  This remains a concern as fi rms need 

to diversify their income mix to mitigate interest 

rate and credit risks. 

Though non-interest income fell by 39 percent, 

securities fi rms were able to reign in the growth 

in their operational expenses by rationalizing 

their operations to cope with the changing 

economic realities.  This has contributed posi-

tively to securities fi rms’ bottom-lines during the 

review period.  Table 18 illustrates the operating 

results of the securities fi rms.

 13 Yields are based on Average 180 day T-bill rates.

 14 Most Repo liabilities are of short-term maturity (less than a year) while a signifi cant share of the assets fi nanced Repos are of 
     signifi cantly longer maturity.



23     Executive Director’s  Report       

Table 18: : Summary Operating Results for Securities Firms, 2007 - 2009 

Prudential Indicators

The FSC monitors the adequacy of each fi rm’s 

capital as well as the quality of the assets back-

ing investor liability.   The sector is adequately 

capitalized and has remained robust dur-

ing the review period.  The capital adequacy 

ratio shows an improvement of 18 percent points 

over 2008.  This is a direct result of a combi-

nation of fi rms’ capital injections and an 

increase in the fair value of assets.

It should be noted that for the industry as a 

whole, there are adequate assets backing 

investments made by repo investors, as the low 

risk asset to repo liabilities ratio remains above 

the FSC’s minimum benchmark.  The stock of 

low-risk assets on the books of securities fi rms 

have increased by 19 percent which indicates 

that fi rms have improved the overall quality of 

the assets on their books.

Securities fi rms’ reliance on their Repo business is 

evident in the weakening of the intermediation 

ratio.  This resulted from the increase of Repo li-

abilities outpacing the growth in the total FUM.  

Nevertheless, the industry as a whole remains 

below the FSC’s maximum requirement.  Table 

19 summarizes the prudential indicators for the 

securities fi rms for the review period. 

Notes: 

R: Revised



   Executive Director’s  Report   24

Table 19: Selected Prudential Ratio for Securities Firms December 2007 - 2009

Performance of Unit Trusts and 
Mutual Funds 

Unit Trusts

The Unit Trust sub-sector consists of eight (8) funds 

which are managed by four (4) fund managers, 

namely Barita Unit Trust Management Compa-

ny, Scotia DBG Fund Managers, PanCaribbean 

Asset Management, and Capital & Credit Fund 

Managers.  The unit trusts portfolios are com-

posed mainly of real estate investments, equi-

ties and fi xed income securities including GOJ 

debentures, Local Registered Stocks (LRS), Cer-

tifi cates of Deposit (CD) and Treasury bills.  

As at December 31, 2009, total funds managed 

by unit trusts management companies stood 

at $14 billion, a 20 percent increase over De-

cember 31, 2008.  For the review period, the sub 

sector experienced net infl ows of 11 million units 

valued at $267 million.  This is a reversal of the 

net outfl ows experienced in 2008; see Table 20.

            Table 20: Summary of Unit Trusts Funds under Management
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Mutual Funds 

For the review period, the Mutual Fund sub- 

sector consisted of eighteen (18) mutual funds 

available for sale in Jamaica.15 These mutual 

funds are managed by four (4) fund managers, 

namely Manulife (formerly AIC), CI Investments, 

Scotiabank Canada and JMMB Securities.  The 

mutual fund investment portfolios are com-

posed mainly of equities, fi xed income securi-

ties and cash.  

For the period ended December 31, 2009, the 

total funds managed by mutual fund compa-

nies were USD 8 billion.  This represented an 

increase of USD 4 billion or 79 percent above 

that of December 31, 2008.  As at December 31, 

2009, purchases made by Jamaicans in mutual 

funds amounted to USD 230 million, with a cor-

responding encashment of USD 149 million; net 

purchases stood at USD 81 million.

Performance of the Equities and 
Private Debt Markets

The oversight of the private debt market began 

in 2006 with the “Private Placement” regime 

which required institutions when raising funds 

without making a public offering to register 

these offers with the Commission.  Debt offer-

ings made under this regime were limited to fi fty 

(50) investors.  This regime was replaced in 2008

by the “Exempt Distribution” regime which al-

lows for a distribution of securities to be exempt

from registration of a prospectus or offering 

document with the FSC.16   This initiative was in-

tended to assist in reducing the costs of raising 

capital and to stimulate the development of 

the Jamaican capital market.  Exemptions may 

be granted under the following categories:

1. Accredited Investor

2. Minimum Purchase Amount

3. Highly Rated Debt

4. Private Issuer

The private debt market is comprised mainly of 

short and medium term notes with instruments 

with tenures exceeding 5 years accounting 

for just over 1% of total issues.  The market saw 

an increase in the total value of issues of over 

100%, between 2007 and 2008 following the 

introduction of the Exempt Distribution regime.  

Subsequently a 74% decrease was experienced 

between 2008 and 2009.  See Table 21. The de-

cline in activity in 2009 may have refl ected, 

among other things, a normalization of market 

activity, as well as the negative effects of the 

global fi nancial crisis, which may have reduced 

investor confi dence in the creditworthiness of 

some potential issuers.

 
16  For more details, see “Guidelines for Exempt Distributions” (Guidelines SR-GUID-08/05-0016) at 
      http://www.fscjamaica.org/content. php?action=content&subid=70

  Table 21: Summary Private Placements and Exempt Distributions 2007 - 2009

  15  While at the end of 2009, 18 mutual funds were available for sale, there was an additional registered mutual fund but was not in 
operation. This therefore means that there were actually fi ve fund managers.
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THE PENSION INDUSTRY 

The table below shows the number of corporate service providers by category inclusive of the 

pension assets under management which have grown, year over year by 16 percent.

  Table 22: Summary Public Offerings, 2007 - 2009

 Table 23: Total Assets under Management of Corporate Service Providers 

Public offerings of equity securities registered 

with the FSC in 2007 were comprised solely of 

preference shares of existing public issuers.  

However, three (3) of the four (4) issues regis-

tered in 2008 and both issues registered with the 

FSC in 2009 represented issuers new to the pub-

lic equities market.  The JSE launched a Junior

Stock Market in April 2009 to encourage and al-

low small and medium sized businesses access 

to equity fi nancing.  Of the 2 public offerings 

for 2009, one represented a listing on the Junior 

Stock Exchange, Access Financial Services Lim-

ited; see Table 22.
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 Table 24: Performance against 2009-2010 Objectives for the Insurance Division

SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE 
SCOREBOARD 2009-2010

Tables 24 - 26 below outline key strategic objec-

tives for the insurance, pensions and securities 

industries.  Details of the activities undertaken 

in pursuit of these objectives are presented in 

the various segments of the Executive Director’s 

report.

The Insurance Division
The main function of the Insurance Division is to 

protect the interest of policyholders and so in 

furtherance of this main goal it sets strategies 

outlined in two main objectives, namely: (i) to 

strengthen the legal and regulatory framework 

and improve monitoring in order to enhance 

risk management; and (ii) ensure a high level 

of compliance on the part of the insurance in-

dustry.  The performance against these targets 

is shown in Table 24.
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 Table 24: Performance against 2009-2010 Objectives for the Insurance Division cont’d.
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The Securities Division

The business plan of the Securities Division is aimed at achieving the twin objectives of pro-

tecting the interest of investors and the preservation of market integrity.  These objectives are 

achieved through the maintenance of safe and sound market intermediaries through a combi 

nation of (i) supervisory programmes (off-site examinations and monitoring) and (ii) regulatory 

review and development.  The performance against these objectives is set out in Table 25

 Table 25: Performance against 2009-2010 Objectives for the Securities Division
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 Table 25: Performance against 2009-2010 Objectives for the Securities Division con’td

� �

� �

���	��)���� �	�)���� ��	����

�����
�0�	�/?5������������������

�&H�(��.����������������$���'-��.�'��������$����)�
	�������+�	����(����������
��������$	�(��

��.������-����(����A�

���	��)���� �	�)���� ��	����

0A �'��
'��������$��

��(���������(�A�

��3��	
��	�
��	������

��������
	�
���-�����
��	���
��

��������0��
������
�

��������
	�������
���������

.��������
��������	���<=�.�>?��

�������������������
	��
���

!�
���-������	��(�	����������

.������%���	����0�
�����F��0��3	�

����������
5�

-������������
	��������1��

��������
	�
��-�����
��	���
�

�������
����
�������	���	�����

 ���	
���
�����	����������0����

$��������������
���	�<=�$�	>?�

,��������	��	�����������

����
�������	����

�������

���	�����
�������
���$-��

�����5�C�0����������
������

	��	�D���
�
��
����������
����

���
���*��������
;	��������


���������������������������

���
�����������
�:�������G�

#�����67�7������
������

�����	��	�����
��
�
�������
�

�
����
���
	��������	�
��
���

��
���
���������0��3�����

������
���� ���	
���
�-�����	�

<=� ->?���$�	�����.�����
����

-������	�����0�����������������

���$"�67�7E67��5���

2A �'��
'��������$��

����	
� ��
A�������

��)�
	������"J� �K*A��

(����0������	�����������
	�


��#$(����-��
������B7��67785�

��
�������
��5��.����	���

��������
	�
��
���#$(�����
��

���
�3����	����
���������
���

���J��
�����
���������	�
��
���

��
���
���������0��3������ -�

<	����
���TB�����0?5�

8A ��

�(��.����.���'����

�($�'���"J���K*�


�)��
	����A�

&�
�
�����	��
��
�
����������

��
�	��
���������0��3����#�����

B���67�75�

���
�
���
5��

�	������
����
������	��
�������

�������������
�
���	��������

�����	�����
�	��
��������

��
�����������	��	�����

��������
	�
��
���-�����
��	�

��
��#$(������
������
����	
�

��
�����������
�������
�

�����0��5�

=A �'��
'��������$��

�����������

��)�
	�����A�

���3��	
��	�
��	������

��������
�
��
������
����	
�

(�
���
���	����#�����B���67�75�

���
�
���
5��

�������
����	
�(�
���
���	�

0����������������
�����0�

��
���
���	�0����
�4�

���

�����
�
�����	
�D���
������$"�

6778E67�75��������	
���

����	����0�	��������
������



31     Executive Director’s  Report       

� �

� �

���	��)���� �	�)���� ��	����

$��������67�75�

?A �'��
'��������$��

���
�
�����+���

�	�)����+���

��-��($	��A��

�

�

� -����
�����
���������
	�


��!�
���%���	�������������

B7��67785�

�

� ������#��
���*��������	�


��������
�
�����0�

�����0��3����������
��
�

�����������
������:����

B7��67785�

��
�������
��5���
������
�

��	����������������
0����
���

$-����������	
���

�����	��
�
���	�	�����	�
���

:�������-�����
��	�%�����	�

�		����
����<=:-%�>?�������

���������
�������0��3�������	39

��	������
�����D�������
	5�

$��
�������
��		��	��@���
���

�����
�$"�67�7E67����	�
���

��	39��	����������	�

���������
���
����0����3�
�

�����
���	���	
9:%'�����

��
�
��
���0�
���
���������	��	�

���������������	��������������

������
����	������	���5�

@A �'��
'��������$��

���
�(���+�1��������

��)�
	������"J��1K*A��

� -����
���D������

��������
	�
��!�
���

-������	��(�	����������

.������%���	���������
�	
�

B���67785�

�

� (����0�����
���������
�

��
���
���	����%��������

B���67785�

��
�������
��5�������
�����	�

���
��
��
����������
��
�
	�

����
�����������
��
���TI�

�����5�

;A ��
���)�.�����)�

#��
�
�#�������#
	��A�

� (����0�����	
���������
	�

�����	��		��������������

����
�������������D������

����
�	������:����B7��67785�

�

� -����
�����
�
��������	�
��

!�
���-������	��(�	������

����.������%���	�������

��
�	
�B���67785�

�

�  �������
�
��������	����

%��������67785�

 ��
��������
����������������

0�
����
��
�
���
���������5�

C�0���������J��
��	���������
��

�	�����
��������	�
�����

����������	������
�����	��
	�

����������	
���	���������

������
�����
���	5��

�

�.��J��
�
�����������
������$"�

67�7E67��5�

<A ���
�
�����+���

������������
�(	�����

��G����'�����%��$�

�$��(�

	&��	������+�

�$��:���A�

� -����

��
�����
�
��������	�


��!�
���-������	��(�	������

����.������%���	�������:����

B7��67785��

�

� .�������
�������
��������	���

���-��
������B7��67785�

%���
�
�����������
���
�

������4��5��������
��������
����
���


��������	���	���������������

������
�����������0�����

��	��		���5�

4A ��(������($��(	
� � %���������(������������� ���
�
���
������
���

 Table 25: Performance against 2009-2010 Objectives for the Securities Division con’td



   Executive Director’s  Report   32

 Table 25: Performance against 2009-2010 Objectives for the Securities Division con’td

The Pensions Division

The Business Plan of the Pensions Division for the fi scal year 2009/10 included four principal and  

related objectives for the purpose of protecting pension plan members and their benefi ciaries as 

outlined below: 

 Table 26: Performance against 2009-2010 Objectives for the Pensions Division
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 Table 26: Performance against 2009-2010 Objectives for the Pensions Division cont’d.
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 17  This and the following sections report on activities that occurred within the fi scal year April 1, 2009 – March 31, 2010.

REGULATORY ACTIVITIES 
17

(A) Bulletins and Guidelines 
Bulletins and guidelines are used by the FSC to provide information and guidance to licensees, 

registrants and the general public.  These bulletins and guidelines are circulated to relevant industry 

participants and are also posted on the FSC’s website.   A summary of the bulletins and guidelines 

released during the review year for each sector is provided below: 

Insurance Industry

The following bulletins and guidelines related to the Insurance Industry were released during the 

review period:
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 Table 26: Performance against 2009-2010 Objectives for the Pensions Division cont’d.
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• Stress Testing – General Insurance Com-

panies IR-CONSUL-09/04-0004: This guideline 

discusses the importance of developing stress 

testing mechanisms to mitigate the various risks 

facing insurance companies.

• Guidelines on Market Conduct for all 

insurers and intermediaries registered to con-

duct insurance business in Jamaica IR-CONSUL-

09/04-0005: The purpose of this guideline is to 

reinforce the provision of the existing laws and 

regulations in order to ensure that insurers and 

intermediaries develop and adopt standards 

that are consistent with industry best practices.

• Draft Guidelines for Business Plans to be 

Submitted to the Financial Services Commission 

on an Annual Basis IR-CONSUL-09/04-0006: This 

draft guideline establishes the minimum stan-

dard regarding the content of the Business Plan 

to be provided to the FSC, setting forth how an 

insurance company intends to manage its busi-

ness.

• Information Bulletin: Filing Requirements 

for an Association of Underwriters IR-GUID-09

/04-0011: The purpose of this bulletin is to pro-

vide a listing of information that is required to be 

fi led with the FSC by an association of underwrit-

ers, registered to conduct insurance business in 

Jamaica.  

• Draft Guidelines on the Criteria for Au-

ditors and Actuaries to Function in the Insurance 

Industry IR-GUID-09/06-0012: This draft guideline 

discusses the criteria required by auditors and 

actuaries to function in the insurance industry 

and for actuaries and auditors to be approved 

by the FSC before commencement of duties 

with an insurance entity. 

• Bulletin on Early Warning Ratios IR-AD-

VI-09/08-0001: This bulletin provides an outline 

of the proposed changes to some of the origi-

nal early warning ratios so as to improve the 

FSC’s ability to detect the potential risks faced 

by insurance companies as early as possible.

• Bulletin: Defi nition of Persons to be 

Registered as Sales Representatives IR-ADVI-

09/08-0002:  This bulletin discusses specifi c sce-

narios under which a person employed to an 

insurance entity is required to be registered as 

a ‘sales representative’, i.e. a person who may 

lawfully solicit or negotiate insurance business.  

This guideline further clarifi es the FSC’s expec-

tations regarding the minimum standards to be 

adhered to by general insurance companies 

in seeking registration of their sales representa-

tives.

• Market Conduct Guidelines on Best 

Practice for Motor Insurance Claims IR-GUID-

09/08-0013: This guideline clarifi es the FSC’s ex-

pectations regarding the minimum standards 

to be adhered to by general insurance compa-

nies in the settlement of motor vehicle claims.

• Instructions: Minimum Capital Test for 

General Insurance Companies and Branches of 

Foreign Companies Carrying on General Insur-

ance Business in Jamaica AR–GUID-09/11-0011: 

This consultative paper provides the general 

framework for the calculation of the Minimum 

Capital Test (“MCT”) which is based on the Ca-

nadian insurance regulator’s MCT and assesses 

the riskiness of assets and policy liabilities by 

applying various factors and margins. It is an 

“excess of capital” measure which compares 

capital available to capital required.
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Securities Industry 

The following bulletin related to the Securities In-

dustry was released during the review year:

• Securities Industry Advisory: New Re-

quirements for Unit Trusts SR-ADVI-09/08-0003: 

This advisory outlines the new requirements that 

will come into effect once the regulation go-

verning unit trusts have been promulgated into 

law. 

Pensions Industry 
The following bulletins and guidelines related to 

the Pensions Industry were released during the 

review period:

• Bulletin: Accredited Actuarial Asso-

ciations Recognised by the Financial Services 

Commission under Section 2 of The Pensions (Su-

perannuation Funds and Retirement Schemes) 

Act, 2004 and Regulation 11 of The Pensions (Su-

perannuation Funds and Retirement Schemes) 

(Governance) Regulations, 2006 March 2009 

AR-GEN-09/03-0004: This bulletin provides a list 

of Actuarial Associations that are recognized 

by the FSC.

• Bulletin: Leases PR-GUID-09/04-0013: 

This bulletin provides insight to the accounting 

standards and legislative requirement relating 

to the treatment of leases.

• Bulletin: Content of the Business Plan 

PR-GUID-09/04-0014: This bulletin establishes the 

minimum standard regarding the content of the 

Business Plan to be provided to the FSC setting 

forth how the applicant intends to manage its 

pensions business.

• Information Bulletin: Statutory Filings for 

Administrators and Investment Managers PR-

GUID-09/04-0015: This guideline serves to alert 

Administrators and Investment Managers of the 

timelines for the submission of certain docu-

ments to the FSC

• Information Bulletin: Statutory Filings 

for Trustees PR-GUID-09/04-0016: This guideline 

serves to alert Trustees of the timelines for the 

submission of certain documents to the FSC.  It 

is intended to assist Trustees in discharging their 

duty to ensure that actions are taken to achieve 

compliance with the regulatory requirements.  

• Guideline on Conversion PR-GUID-09

/04-0017: This serves to guide plan conversions 

from a defi ned benefi t plan to a defi ned contri-

bution plan and outlines the FSC’s expectations 

regarding the different approaches which may 

be adopted. 

• Statement of Investment Policies and 

Principles (SIPP) PR-ADVI-10/02-0001: This bul-

letin reviews the basics of an investment policy 

and should provide some assistance to trustees 

in understanding the development, implemen-

tation and management of the investment pol-

icy.

• Draft Guideline on Trustees acting as In-

vestment Managers of Self-Administered Funds 

PR-GUID-10/02-0019:  This guideline outlines 

among other things the responsibilities of trust-

ees of self-administered funds when investing 

pension fund assets.
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• Guideline on the Submission of Infor-

mation in lieu of Annual Reports PR-GUID-10/04-

0021: This guideline allows selected companies 

to provide the FSC with additional information 

regarding its corporate governance instead of 

submitting an annual report to the FSC. 

 

• Guideline on Transfer Plan on Discon-

tinuance of Business PR-GUID-10/02-0019: This 

guideline aims to ensure certain principles are 

followed when the pension business of an Ad-

ministrator or Investment Manager that discon-

tinues operations are properly and effectively 

migrated to another Administrator or Investment 

Manager. These principles include: 

 o Compliance with the Pen 

  sions (Superannuation Funds  

  and Retirement Schemes) Act,  

  2004 and the associated  

  Regulations in implementing  

  the transfer of business; 

 o Engaging the FSC such that  

  the FSC is able  to monitor  

  events and coordinate infor- 

  mation fl ow and activities; 

 o Ensuring that trustees are in 

  formed of their choices and  

  are provided with suffi cien 

  opportunity to secure alterna

  tive  service arrangements; 

 o Avoidance of double transfers   

  whenever possible.
18

• Bulletin: Auditing of Financial State-

ments PR-ADVI-10/03-0002: This bulletin is ap-

plicable to superannuation funds and seeks 

to clarify the calculation of the limit on the fair 

value of assets and its effect on the criteria for 

the submission of audited accounts.

General 
The following bulletin related to the registra-

tion processing was released during the review 

year:

• Bulletin: New Requirements Related to 

Registration Processing and Fit & Proper Assess-

ments GEN-ADVI-10/01-0001: This bulletin de-

tails recent procedural changes made by the 

FSC which impact the following:

 o Stale-dating of fi t and proper  

  documents

 o Persons deemed eligible to  

  verify copies of academic re 

  cords

 o Information required in relation  

  to character references for 

  applicants. 

 

(B) Anti-Money Laundering 
The FSC continued to discharge its functions in 

compliance with statutory requirements and 

the Financial Action Task Force (‘FATF’) princi-

ples pursuant to Jamaica being signatory to the 

1988 United Nations (“UN”) Convention Against 

Illicit Traffi c in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic 

Substances.   In this regard, the FSC pursued the 

following initiatives:  

1. Continued Assessment of the Anti-

 Money Laundering Systems of 

 Licensees

 On-site and off-site assessments of the  

 anti-money laundering systems for  

 registrants and licensees within our  

 regulatory ambit in the insurance and  

 securities sectors continued. Defi cien- 

 cies were identifi ed, noted in writing,  

 and communicated to the entity in  

 breach for the necessary corrective

  18  Double transfers occur where a pension plan is transferred by the Administrator/Investment Manager to a service provider, 
and then by the Trustees to a different service provider of their own choice
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 actions to be taken.  Follow-up 

 assessments were initiated in order 

 to ensure that appropriate corrective 

 actions were implemented. Such 

 follow  up assessments will continue

 until all defi ciencies are satisfactorily

 addressed.

2. Revision to the Anti-Money Laundering 

/ Counter-Financing of Terrorism Guidelines

Work on the revision of the Anti-Money Launder-

ing/Counter-Financing of Terrorism Guidelines, 

(“Guidelines”), continued in order to ensure 

synchrony with the Proceeds of Crime Act, 2007 

and its attendant regulations which are the Pro-

ceeds of Crime Regulations, 2007, and the Pro-

ceeds of Crime (Money Laundering Prevention) 

Regulations, 2007.  The modifi ed Guidelines are 

to be forwarded to the Minister with responsi-

bility for national security for review and com-

ments.

3. Notices 

The FSC continued to circulate notices on a 

periodic basis in order to keep all stakeholders 

abreast of international developments, particu-

larly in respect of persons and organizations in-

cluded on the UN Security Council Consolidat-

ed List, and in conjunction with the Ministry of 

Foreign Affairs and Foreign Trade. 

4. Training for Staff 

Additionally, the FSC continued to provide staff 

members with anti-money laundering training 

opportunities to bolster their skills so as to en-

sure effective and effi cient performance in the 

discharge of the FSC’s functions as a Compe-

tent Authority under the Proceeds of Crime Act, 

2007.  

( C ) Authorisations
Under the relevant Acts and the attendant reg-

ulations, the FSC is mandated to regulate and 

supervise the insurance, securities and pensions 

industries.  This includes the registration and li-

censing of different products, entities and indi-

viduals for each sector. This section will review 

the authorizations issued by the FSC for each 

industry.

Insurance Authorisations

Of the 350 authorisations for the insurance sec-

tor, 322 were for insurance sales representatives; 

meanwhile, 154 sales representatives voluntarily 

cancelled their registration resulting partially 

from movements out of the insurance industry.  

Consequently, there were 168 more insurance 

representatives in the industry.  Table 27 shows 

the number of registrants in the insurance indus-

try.
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Securities Authorisations
Table 28 shows the number of additions and voluntary cancellations within the securities in-

dustry that occurred during the 2009-2010 fi scal year.

        Table 27: Number of Registrants in the Insurance Industry as at March 31, 2010
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Table 28: Number of Licensees and Registrants in the Securities Industry as at March 31, 2010

Pensions Authorisations
Under the Pensions (Superannuation Funds and 

Retirement Schemes) Act (“the Pensions Act”) 

and its attendant regulations,19 the FSC is man-

dated to regulate and supervise the pensions 

industry, the duties for which include: (i) the 

registration of superannuation funds, retirement 

schemes, trustees and responsible offi cers, and 

(ii) the licensing of administrators and invest-

ment managers.

Six applications for licensing and 220 applica-

tions for registration were received during the 

2009/2010 fi scal year, bringing the total number 

of applications for licensing and registration of 

pension entities that have been received since 

September 29, 2006 20 to 72 and 3,067, respec-

tively.  Table 29 shows the number of submis-

sions received by categories of registrants and 

licensees.

 19  The Pensions (Superannuation Funds and Retirement Schemes) Act was passed on the 21st of September 2004, with the 
appointed day being March 1, 2005.   The associated regulations became effective on March 30, 2006.

20 Persons and entities wishing to be registered or licensed had to submit their applications to the FSC within 6 months of the passing 
of the regulations on March 29, 2006.  Therefore the deadline for submission of applications for registration and licensing was 
September 29, 2006.
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The progress made by the FSC in the registration 

and licensing process of the above-mentioned 

category of applicants as at March 31, 2010 is 

as follows: 

• Pensions Plans: Superannuation Funds  

 and Retirement Schemes   

 For the review period, 8 additional 

 applications were submitted for regis- 

 tration.  Of this amount, 5 were for su- 

 perannuation funds and 3 were for 

 retirement schemes.  Therefore a total  

 of 554 pension plan applications were 

 received up to the end of the 2009/10  

 fi nancial year, of which 14 were for  

 retirement schemes while the other  

 540 were for superannuation funds.   

 Of the 554 pension plans for which  

 applications were received, process- 

 ing was discontinued for 63 plans due  

 to mergers (5); withdrawal of applica- 

 tion (1); and winding-up (57).   Six pen- 

 sion plans were also wound up subse-

 quently to being approved and regis- 

 tered by the FSC.  Of the remaining  

 485 applications, only 336 (69 percent)  

 contained all the requisite documents  

 necessary for processing.  

There are four main components to the appli-

cation review process for pension plans:

 1. Fit and Proper Evaluation: The  

 individual trustees of each plan must  

 be considered fi t and proper as 

 required by the law.  By the end of  

 March 2010 (see Table 29), the FSC 

 received a total of 4 applications for  

 corporate trustees and 2,434 for the 

 registration of individual trustees; of  

 which 378 have resigned or withdrawn  

 their application bringing the total net  

 applications received to date to 2,060.   

 Of the 2,060 applicants remaining only

Table 29: Number & Types of Applications by Categories of Registrants & Licensees 2006 - 2010
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 1,686 submitted all the requisite docu- 

 ments. Ninety-seven (97) percent of  

 these have been assessed for fi tness  

 and propriety.

 2. Business and Financial Apprais 

 al:  The fi nancial health of the plans 

 and the corporate service providers  

 is examined by reviewing the fi nancial  

 statements, actuarial valuation reports  

 and bus iness plans. Thirty -three  fi nan-

 cial statements and actuarial valua-

 tion reports of pension plans were 

 received and reviewed for the 2009/

 2010 fi scal year while 5 out of 6 

 reviews were completed for corporate  

 entities.  

 3. Legal/Technical Review:  An  

 evaluation of the constitutive docu- 

 ments (i.e., Trust Deed and Plan Rules) 

 is carried out to ensure compliance  

 with the Act and Regulations.  A 

 review  of the technical provisions 

 contained in the constitutive 

 documents of 60 pension plans was  

 completed during the fi scal year  

 2009/2010. 

 4. Tax Status Assessment: The Tax

 payer Audit & Assessment Department  

 (“TAAD”) inspects the constitutive doc- 

 uments to establish compliance with 

 the relevant laws and to determine  

 whether the plans qualify for tax 

 exemptions.  All pension plans with  

 complete applications have been dis- 

 patched to the TAAD for simultaneous  

 processing based on an administrative  

 agreement between the TAAD and 

 the FSC.  

Of the 336 pension plans containing all the req-

uisite documents necessary for processing 216 

(205 superannuation funds and 11 retirement 

schemes) have been approved and registered; 

52 were given 90 days within which to satisfy the 

stipulated conditions outlined in the Pensions 

Act and Regulations and the remaining 68 are 

considered work in progress.  During the fi scal 

year 2009/2010, 339 registrants including 119 

pension plans were approved.  See Table 30.
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Table 30:   Number of Licensees and Registrants in the Pensions Industry as at March 31, 2010

Table 31: Status of Applications for Administrators and Investment Managers as at March 31, 2010

• Administrators and Investment Managers 

 For the fi scal year 2009/2010, the FSC approved 5 and 6 applications for licensing of 

 administrators and  investment managers, respectively, moving the total applications 

 approved to 56 out of a total of 64 net applications that have been received  as shown 

 in the Table 31.

• Responsible Offi cers

 Each administrator, investment manager and corporate trustee is  required to appoint a 

 responsible offi cer.   A total  of 75 applications for registration relating to 47 persons, some 

 of whom perform the function of a responsible offi cer in a dual capacity, have been 

 received for processing to date.  Since 15 of these applications have since been with

 drawn or  terminated, 60 applications were then left to be processed. Of this amount, 52 have 

 been approved, 1 refused registration and 4 were being reviewed while the submissions 

 received for the other 3 were incomplete. 
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Winding-Up

The FSC is in receipt of applications for the 

winding-up of pension plans, as mandated by 

Section 27 (4) of the Pensions Act.  With 26 ap-

plications received during the review year, a 

total of 160 applications have been received to 

date.  Given that three were outside the ambit 

of section 27(4) of the Pensions Act and another 

three were not approved by the FSC; there was 

a total of 154 applications received for process-

ing.  Nineteen approvals were granted during 

the review period, the total approvals granted

up to March 31st, 2010 stands at 112.  Of the 

remaining 42 applications, 38 had outstand-

ing documents to be submitted, 3 were await-

ing approval while 1 was being reviewed.  The 

reasons given for the winding-up of the pension 

plans are shown in the table below, including 

the number of members and asset values in-

volved.  Table 32 shows the reasons for winding 

up as cited by the plans that fell within the regu-

latory scope of the FSC. 

                    Table 32: Number of Pension Plan Wind-Ups and Associated Reasons

21 
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Impact of Winding-Up 

Approximately 26 percent of plans, which were 

estimated to be active as at March 31, 2004, 

have been wound up, with asset values re-

presenting approximately 23 percent of the to-

tal estimated pension portfolio as at the same 

date.  Of these, 9 plans with $7.68 billion in as-

sets were associated with the consolidations or 

replacement of defi ned benefi t plans with new 

defi ned contribution plans.  Consequently, the 

net asset value of the terminated plans is ap-

proximately 16 percent of the estimated portfo-

lio as at March 31, 2004. 

Pension coverage, in terms of the estimated 

number of persons covered by superannuation 

funds, would have been eroded by 17 percent.  

However, it is expected that approximately 3 

percent represent members who are in consoli-

dated plans or will be re-enrolled in new defi ned 

contribution pension plans which will be estab-

lished.  The net erosion in pension coverage as 

a result of plans being wound up is therefore 

estimated at 14 percent.  This position however 

is offset by the number of members enrolled in 

new pension plans.  

Surplus Distribution

Trustees are required by Section 32(2) of the 

Pensions Act to obtain the Commission’s ap-

proval of the Scheme of Distribution.  During the 

year, 

19 of the 112 pension plans whose wind-up had 

been approved fi led applications for approval 

of schemes of distribution of surplus bringing the 

total applications received to date to 66.  Four-

teen of these applications were approved in 

the year.  As at March 31, 2010, a total of 54 ap-

plications were approved; consequently, only 

12 applications were unapproved 

New Products 

The FSC is also required by law to approve new 

products before they can be offered to the 

public. During the 2009-2010 fi scal year, approv-

al was granted for four new insurance products 

(see Table 33) and one mutual fund, namely, 

Unit Trust Corporation (Cayman) SPC Ltd.  In ad-

dition, approvals were granted to the four re-

tirement schemes listed below:

1. Smart Retirement Scheme (NCB 

 Insurance Company)

2. Guardian Retirement Scheme 

 (Guardian Life)

3. Jamaica National Individual Retire-

 ment  Scheme (Jamaica National 

 Building Society)

4. Churches Co-operation (Churches Co-

 operative Credit Union Limited)

Table 33: New Insurance Products approved by the FSC 2009-2010
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Securities Dealers
Credit Union Fund Management

Heritage Education Funds International(Jamaica) Ltd
 

Insurance Broker
Sagicor Insurance Brokers Limited

 
Facultative Placement Brokers

Zenith Insurance Brokers Limited
 

Insurance Loss Adjusters
Alert Motor Loss Adjusters and  Valuators Ltd

Auto Assessors and Associates Ltd
Axis(Jamaica) Ltd

John Grewcock T/A Talisman Adjusters
Karen Alethea Scarlett T/A KAS Loss Adjusters & Valuators

Lloyd Williams T/A Lloyd's Motor Insurance Adjusters
Matthew John O'Donoghue T/A JMO Adjusters

Maxine Margaret Segree T/A Claims Recovery & Insurance Bureau(CRIB)
Michael Earl Xavier McKenzie T/A Red Line Collision Appraisal Specialist

MSC McKay (Jamaica) Ltd
Pan Caribbean Consultants Ltd

Percival George Stewart T/A Kaution Jamaica
Vision Adjusters Ltd

Toplis & Harding (Jamaica) Ltd
 

Insurance Consultants
Action & Advice Claims Consultants Ltd

 
Claims Negotiators

Collin Michael Harley T/A Insight Insurance Services
Natalie Kerr T/A Direct Claims Services

 
Insurance Investigators

Delroy Anthony Lawson T/A DL Express Investigations & Process Service
Charles Oliver Rodríguez T/A Charles Rodríguez Investigations

Conrad Vaughn Myrie T/A C.I.S. Claims Investigation
Errol Orlando Rattray T/A Quality Adjusters

Focus Investigations Limited
Jones Solomon Jaisingh T/A Network Coordinate

Joseph Clement Messam T/A PROCUR ( Professional Procurers)
Latoure DeAvergne Duhaney T/A Genesis Protective Services

Vinel Central Investigation & Security Consultancy Limited
 

Pension Administrators
Bank of Jamaica

Churches Co-op Credit Union
Credit Union Fund Management Company

IBM
Nestle Jamaica Ltd

Note: The above table only lists changes that occurred within the fi scal year April 2009 - March 2010

BOX 1:  Name of Entities that Were Registered in the Fiscal Year 2009 - 2010
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The Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) Divi-

sion is responsible for (i) carrying out investiga-

tions; (ii) resolving complaints against licensees 

and registrants; (iii) recommending and ex-

ecuting enforcement actions; (iv) fostering  a 

culture of compliance with anti-money laun-

dering, counter-measures to the fi nancing ter-

rorism and anti-fraud protocols within regulated 

entities; and (v) cooperating and collaborating 

through information gathering and sharing on  

cross-border investigations and enforcement 

actions involving  fi nancial crimes. 

The statistics relating to the two main types of 

investigations - fi t and proper reviews, and sus-

pected breaches of statutes and regulations- 

are outlined in Table 34. 

 Table 34: Number and Type of Investigations, April 1, 2009 - March 31, 2010

Complaints Resolution:

For the review period ended March 31, 2010, the division reviewed 246 complaints, 13 more than the 

previous review period.  At March 31, 2010, 209 or 85 percent of the 246 complaints were resolved.  Table 

35 outlines the complaints against licensees addressed by the division.

INVESTIGATIONS & ENFORCEMENT
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Of the 246 complaints reviewed, 83 percent or 

172 were against registrants in the insurance 

(combined life and general industry).  For the 

general insurance industry, 90 percent of these 

complaints related to delays in claim settlement, 

while the main complaint for the life insurance 

industry was related to other concerns.  Within 

the securities industry, most of the complaints 

were related to the delay in en-cashing units, 

whilst pension industry complaints were domi-

nated by those relating to the refund of pension 

contributions. 

Fit and Proper Investigation
The FSC conducts fi t and proper assessments on 

the premise that the protection of investors can 

be signifi cantly improved and risks minimized if 

an examination into the qualifi cations and rep-

utations of those seeking positions that involve 

managing and protecting/safeguarding other 

people’s property or money is conducted.  Not 

all applicants for a fi t and proper assessment 

become the subject of an investigation.  One 

hundred and nine investigations were conduct-

ed during the 2009/2010 review period, of which 

65 were brought forward from the 2008/2009 

review period.  These investigations were relat-

ed to (i) candidates applying for a licence or 

registration under the Insurance, Pensions and 

Securities Acts, (ii) individuals recruited or pro-

moted to senior positions or responsibilities within

10 percent or more of the shares of a licensed 

entity, (iv) licensees or registrants whose fi t and 

proper status was suspected of being compro-

mised.   As at March 31, 2010, that is, the end 

of the review period, 73 of these investigations 

were completed and 36 remained in progress 

and will be carried forward to the April 1, 2010 – 

March 31, 2011 period.

Breach of any Relevant Act
The FSC conducted 80 investigations into sus-

pected breaches of the Insurance and Securi-

ties Acts and the respective Regulations during 

the period April 1, 2009 – March 31, 2010.  Most 

of these breaches occurred within the insur-

ance industry for contravention of Sections 20, 

70 and 85 of the Insurance Act.

With the demonstrated fraudulent activities as-

sociated with Unlawful Financial Operations 

(UFOs), it was expected that the prevalence 

of these entities would have been reduced.  

While the growth slowed, the FSC continues to 

receive complaints and inquiries into suspected 

UFO activities.  The number of UFOs currently on 

the FSC’s published watch list stands at 62, as 

against 58 reported at March 31, 2009.  This list is 

expected to expand upon completion of some 

17 ongoing investigations.  All UFOs operate in 

breach of Sections 7 and 26 of the Securities 

Act while some are also in breach of Sections 

8 and 10.

Table 35: Analysis of Complaints, 2009 - 2010
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Cross Border Cooperation and 
Collaboration
The FSC made 3 formal requests for assistance 

from 2 jurisdictions during the period under re-

view.  The assistance of the FSC was sought in 5 

instances from 4 jurisdictions.  All of the requests 

made were related to UFOs.

Enforcement Actions

UFO Related:

During the 2008-2009 fi scal year, the FSC em-

ployed a number of enforcement measures 

against number of UFOs.  For the reporting pe-

riod, 2009-2010, two of these UFO continued 

to be the focus of enforcement actions, albeit 

from overseas regulators. 

• Capital Blu:  
 On April 7, 2009, the U.S. Commod- 

 ity Futures Trading Commission   

 (“CFTC”) in a Florida Federal court  

 charged Capital Blu Management,  

 LLC (“Capital Blu”) for operating a  

 fraudulent commodity scheme 

 involving about 100 investors and 

 approximately $17 million solicited 

 purportedly to invest in foreign 

 currency (“forex”) futures and 

 options.
22

 

 Furthermore, on September 18, 2009,  

 the National Futures Association   

 (“NFA”)  announced that it perma-

 nently barred Capital Blu from NFA

  membership.
23

   This action was guided  

 by the NFA’s Business Conduct Com- 

 mittee’s fi nding that Capital Blu “failed  

 to cooperate fully and promptly with  

 NFA in its investigation of the fi rm’s 

 operation.” 

 

• OLINT Corp./Overseas Locket/

 David Smith:  

 Mr. David Smith continues to be the  

 subject of a criminal probe in other ju- 

 risdictions and criminal prosecution in  

 the Turks and Caicos Islands.   A trial  

 date in this matter is set for June 28,  

 2010.

Fixed Penalty Payments
Pursuant to section 21 of the FSC Act, the FSC 

may exercise the discretion to offer anyone 

or an entity who has breached specifi ed pro-

visions of the related Acts the opportunity to 

discharge any liability to conviction of that of-

fence by payment of a fi xed penalty as out-

lined in the Fourth Schedule of the FSC Act.  For 

the period under review, the FSC offered 11 in-

surance intermediaries and companies this op-

portunity for breaches relating to sections 20, 70 

and 85 of the Insurance Acts.  The fi xed penalty 

payable amounted to $1.8 million from these 

breaches.  Proceeds from these penalties are 

paid over to the Consolidated Fund.   At the 

close of this reporting period, $525,000 was paid 

with $1,325,000 becoming due at a later date.

Litigation
Previous enforcement actions have resulted in 

litigation in a number of cases, namely: 

a) Claim No. HCV 0817/2006 - Olint 

 Corporation and David Smith v. The 

 Financial Services Commission 

 In this matter, Olint Corporation and  

 David  Smith (the Claimants) are 

  claiming the sum of Five Million United  

 States Dollars (USD 5,000,000) against  

 the FSC for damages arising from a  

 search and seizure exercise conduct- 

 ed by the FSC at premises occupied  

 by the Claimants.  The suit com-  

 menced in 2006, but has since been  

 in abeyance. The Claimants are yet to  

  22  The full report can be seen at http://www.nfa.futures.org/basicnet/Case.aspx?entityid=0381906&case=6%3a09-CV-508&contrib=CFTC 

  23 The full text of this release can be found at http://www.nfa.futures.org/news/newsRel.asp?ArticleID=2356 
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 set out the claim in detail.  The suit is 

 still pending.

 b) Claim No. SCCA No. 6/2008 -  

 Olint Corporation/ David Smith v. The  

 Financial Services Commission 

 Olint Corporation and David Smith 

 (the Applicants) fi led an appeal be-

 fore the Court of Appeal on January  

 23, 

 2008.  The Notice of Appeal indicated  

 that the Applicants were seeking to  

 challenge the decision of the Supreme  

 Court that was handed down on 

 December 24, 2007 affi rming a Cease  

 and Desist Order (“CDO”) issued to the  

 Applicants by the FSC in March 2006.   

 The appeal challenged the CDOs on  

 both substantive and procedural  

 grounds. 

 

 During the period February 9, 2009 

 to February 12, 2009 the Court of Ap- 

 peal heard the appeal.  The Court of  

 Appeal reserved judgment on the 

 matter for an unspecifi ed date.  At the  

 end of the review period, judgement  

 was still pending.

c) Neil/ Janice Lewis (t/a LewFam Invest-

 ments) v. The Financial Services 

 Commission

 On January 31, 2008, LewFam Invest-

 ments fi led an appeal against the 

 decision of the Supreme Court that 

 was handed down on December 24,  

 2007 affi rming the CDOs issued to the  

 Applicants by the FSC in March 2006.

 The appeal was not pursued as 

 LewFam withdrew their appeal.  The  

 FSC instructed its external counsel to  

 take the necessary steps to enforce 

 the judgment that was granted by 

 Justice McIntosh in the court below.   

 

 The issue of costs payable by LewFam  

 to the FSC was brought before the 

 Supreme Court on November 19, 2009.   

 On February 5, 2010, documents were 

 fi led and served on the Lewises.  The  

 matter was scheduled for hearing on  

 February 15, 2010 but was adjourned 

 to April 19, 2010 to allow the Lewises  

 time to fi le their Statement of Assets.

d) Claim No. HCV 01975 OF 2009 - World  

 Wise Partners Limited (“WWPL”) and  

 Noel Strachan v. The Financial Services  

 Commission

 On April 14, 2009, WWPL and Noel 

 Strachan fi led a Notice of Appeal in  

 the Supreme Court of Jamaica con-

 testing the CDOs issued by the FSC to 

 them on August 5, 2008 and subse-

 quently varied on March 20, 2009.  The  

 challenges were made on both proce-

 dural and substantive grounds includ-

 ing allegations of breach of natural 

 justice and procedural fairness by the  

 FSC and assertions that WWPL was not  

 acting in breach of the Securities Act.   

 The matter is scheduled to be heard 

 on July 21, 2010.
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 On December 18, 2008 in favour of 

 the four Applicants stating that the 

 charges against the Applicants 

 under the Insurance Act were null and  

 void, as the FSC had no authority 

 under the Insurance Act to perform  

 any  function in relation to the 

 insurance industry, at the time the 

 offences were alleged to have been  

 committed.

 The court further directed that on  

 March 6, 2009, the scheduled return  

 date to the criminal court, the 

 Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP)  

 should apply the proper procedure  

 and bring the criminal matter to an  

 end.  The criminal charges against the  

 four defendants and the company  

 (Dyoll) were mentioned in the Half 

 Way Tree Resident Magistrate’s Court  

 on March 6, 2009.    The matter was 

 adjourned sine die.  The appeal of the  

 judgment of the Supreme Court is set 

 to be heard in Court of Appeals in 

 May 2010.

f) Lowell Lawrence v. The Financial 

 Services Commission

 On October 28, 2005, the Full Court of 

 the Supreme Court of Judicature of 

 Jamaica dismissed the application  

 made by Mr. Lowell Lawrence (”the  

 Appellant”) for judicial review of the  

 decision made by the FSC to offer to 

 him a fi xed penalty pursuant to 

 section  21 and the Fourth Schedule to  

 the FSC Act.  The fi xed penalty was 

 offered to the Appellant as an alterna- 

 tive to prosecution for carrying on 

 insurance business as an insurance  

 sales representative without being 

 registered to do so, in contravention of  

 section 70 of the Insurance Act, 2001.

  

 Besides these matters relating to UFOs,  

 the FSC was also involved in other 

 matters that resulted from enforce-

 ment actions.  The details are provided  

 below.

e) Dyoll Insurance Company

 On September 8, 2006, charges were 

 fi led against Dyoll Insurance Company

  Limited (a Company in Liquidation).   

 The company was charged with violat-

 ing section 147(1) of the Insurance Act  

 for its failure to comply with directions  

 of the FSC to provide proof of an injec- 

 tion of $150 million in capital into the  

 company.  Similar charges were   

 brought against four Directors and Of 

 fi cers of Dyoll.  

 Thereafter the Counsel for the Joint 

 Liquidators of Dyoll made an applica- 

 tion to the Supreme Court for an  

 Order to stay the criminal proceedings  

 against Dyoll (In Liquidation).  The 

 Hearing of the Application to stay the  

 criminal proceedings against Dyoll was 

 held on November 12, 2007.   The court 

 ruled in favour of the FSC.

 During the 2007-2008 fi scal year, the  

 four Directors/Offi cers of Dyoll against  

 whom criminal charges were brought,  

 made applications to the Constitution-

 al Court to stay the criminal charges  

 brought against them contending that  

 the FSC had no power in relation to  

 the insurance industry at the time the  

 offences were committed.  The 

 hearing of the applications was held  

 November 26 – 28, 2007. 
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 entitled to have the fi xed penalty no- 

 tice quashed; and whether the Court  

 of Appeal erred in upholding the order  

 for cost against Lowell Lawrence.  On  

 the issue of the validity of the fi xed 

 penalty notice, the Privy Council af- 

 fi rmed the decision of the Court of 

 Appeal of Jamaica that it was the 

 intention of the legislature to validate  

 all acts done in good faith by the FSC  

 in the exercise of its functions under  

 the FSC Act and the Insurance Act 

 of 2001, such as the issuing of the 

 notice to Lowell Lawrence.  Regarding 

 the issue of whether Lowell Lawrence  

 was entitled to have the fi xed penalty 

 notice quashed, the Privy Council also 

 affi rmed that the Appellant was not  

 entitled to have the notice quashed  

 because it was validated by the en-

 actment of the Validation Act.  With 

 respect to the issue that Court of 

 Appeal erred in upholding the order  

 for cost against the Appellant, the 

 Privy Council ordered that the FSC  

 pays the Appellant’s cost before the  

 Full Court of the Supreme Court of 

 Jamaica, the Appellant must bear his  

 own costs both in the Court of Appeal  

 and before the Privy Council, and pay  

 half of the FSC’s costs in both of those  

 courts.

 The Appellant fi led an appeal against  

 the Full Court’s decision.  On June 13,  

 2008, the Court of Appeal affi rmed  

 the decision of the Full Court of the 

 Supreme Court.  On July 3, 2008, the  

 Appellant fi led a Motion in the Court  

 of Appeal for an Order that the Appel- 

 lant be granted leave to appeal to 

 Her Majesty in Council from the judge-

 ment of the Court of Appeal.

 On July 21, 2008,  the Court of Appeal  

 granted leave to the Appellant to  

 make  a further appeal to the 

 Judicial Committee of the Privy 

 Council (“Privy Council”) on the basis  

 that the matter concerned a civil 

 proceeding in which a fi nal decision  

 was delivered under, and by virtue of,  

 section 110 (1) (a) of the Constitution 

 of Jamaica.  The hearing in the Privy 

 Council was held on October 6, 2009.

 

 On December 14, 2009, the Privy 

 Council delivered its judgement in the  

 appeal brought by Lowell Lawrence  

 against the ruling of the Court of 

 Appeal of Jamaica which held that 

 the fi xed penalty notice issued to 

 Lowell  Lawrence by the FSC was vali- 

 dated by the Financial Services Com- 

 mission (Insurance Services) (Validation  

 and Indemnity) Act, 2006 (“Validation  

 Act”), dismissed the substantive 

 appeal and the appeal against an 

 order for costs. 

 The issues argued before the Privy 

 Council were whether the fi xed pen- 

 alty notice was validated with the 

 enactment of the Validation Act and, 

 if so whether Lowell Lawrence is 
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• Two company’s registration certifi -

 cates not prominently displayed;

• Three companies not maintaining  

 books, records documents and other  

 business records in such order that 

 data regarding all complaints were 

 accessible and retrievable for exami- 

 nation purposes; and

• Unfair trade practises.

Securities Supervision
A total of 10 examinations were conducted, 

all of which were on-site.25  Table 37 indicates 

the number and the nature of statutory viola-

tions that were observed.  The on-site exami-

nations also revealed that several companies 

were not operating in accordance with the

Margin Requirements for Repurchase Agree-

ments (“Margin R Guideline”) and the Minimum 

Requirements for Client – Dealer Repurchase 

Agreements (“Repo Guideline”) Guidelines.  

The observed violations and defi ciencies were 

communicated to the management of each 

company and efforts are being made to ensure 

that the matters are addressed within the time 

frames agreed with the companies.

SUPERVISION OF FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS

Insurance Supervision  
For the review period, there were 19 off-site 

examinations and 7 on-site examinations.24   A 

number of defi ciencies were observed dur-

ing the course of these examinations, some of 

which included breaches of relevant Acts and 

regulations, while others were not statutory vio-

lations, but were nevertheless of concern to the 

FSC as they represented departures from what 

would be considered “best practices.”  The de-

fi ciencies that were not statutory contraventions 

related mainly to operational management 

and internal controls.  The observed violations 

and defi ciencies were communicated to the 

management of each company and efforts 

are being made to ensure that the matters are 

addressed within the time frames agreed with 

the companies. 

Most of the observed statutory violations can 

be grouped into three areas, namely, corpo-

rate governance, investments and anti-money 

laundering.  Table 36 provides further informa-

tion on the breaches that were observed under 

the three headings.  Other violations of the In-

surance Act and Regulations include:  

• Two companies not notifying the FSC 

 of any change in the particulars 

 specifi ed in the application of the   

 company within thirty days of such  

 change; 

  24   These numbers do not include the off-site quarterly examinations of all insurance companies and the off-site half-yearly exami-
nations of brokers and agencies.  The abovementioned 19 off-site examinations refl ect assessment of annual fi lings.  An off-site or 
desk-top examination involves a review of the fi nancial statements and other selected documents submitted by the licensees and 
registrants to enable the FSC to monitor their fi nancial health using early warning ratios and other risk indicators.  An on-site examina-
tion typically involves a team from the FSC going to the company to perform a thorough inspection of the company’s records that 
are deemed relevant to the examination.  The decision on the areas targeted in an on-site examination is usually based on issues 
revealed from off-site examinations as well as other concerns.

25
  Securities fi rms are also subjected to routine off-site examination through the assessment of quarterly and annual fi lings, including 

fi nancial statements. These routine assessments are used to monitor the fi nancial health of securities fi rms on an on-going basis and to 

facilitate the computation of early warning indicators.
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 TABLE 36:  VIOLATIONS OF THE INSURANCE ACT & REGULATIONS, 2008 - 2010
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TABLE 37:  VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT & REGULATIONS, 2008/09 & 2009/10
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Notes: 

1: References are to the Securities Act and Regulations and the Proceeds of Crime Act (“POCA”). For example; section 38 of the Securities Act is 

referenced as “S38”; “COB” refers to the Conduct of Business Regulations; “DOI” indicates the Disclosure of Interest; and “POCA (MLP)” refers to the 

Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering Prevention) Regulations. 
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 b. 401 preliminary off-site exami- 

  nations of pension plans were  

  completed during the review  

  period.

5. Statutory Breaches

 The number and description of statuto-

 ry provisions which were violated by  

 registrants and licensees (including ap- 

 plicants not yet granted registration or  

 a licence by the FSC) is summarized in  

 Table 38:

Pension Supervision
The supervisory activities conducted by the FSC 

during the year under review are summarised 

below:

1. Winding-up Progress Reports

 A total of 3 reports on the progress of  

 the winding-up of pension plans whose  

 applications were approved by the  

 FSC were processed during the year. 

2. Auditors and Actuaries

 The FSC is required to determine the  

 suitability of the actuary and auditor  

 appointed to the pension plans which  

 fall within the ambit of the Pensions 

 Act.  Information relating to the 

 appointment of 1 actuary and 19 

 auditors were reviewed. 

3. Statement of Investment Policies and  

 Principles (“SIPP”)

 During the review year 40 SIPPs were  

 received bringing the total for review 

 to 65.  Review of 30 SIPPs was complet- 

 ed while 18 were being processed as 

 at 2010 March 31. 

4. Examinations

 a. An on-site examination of 1  

  administrator and 1 invest-

  ment manager was conduct 

  ed and risk assessment com- 

  menced for 6 entities.
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   TABLE 38:  VIOLATIONS OF THE PENSIONS ACT & REGULATIONS, 2008-2010
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   TABLE 38:  VIOLATIONS OF THE PENSIONS ACT & REGULATIONS, 2008-2010 con’td
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The event brought together the brightest minds 

and experts in the pension industry for a full day 

of invaluable educational and business oppor-

tunities.  Insight into a wide spectrum of issues 

ranging from the impact of the global fi nancial 

crisis on pension and retirement saving in Jamai-

ca, to the latest retirement solutions and future 

trends, made this unique event the place to be.  

Other highlights of the event included: 

• over 20 educational sessions focused  

 on approved retirement products 

 available in the market; 

• leading industry experts sharing 

 knowledge on legal and actuarial 

 issues in simple, “easy to understand” 

 language; and

• licensees displaying new products and  

 services tailored to the individual  

 needs  and limits of members of the  

 public.

PUBLIC EDUCATION

Pensions Exposition
The FSC’s 2009 Pension Exposition was attended 

by hundreds of Jamaicans from all walks of life.  

Whether young or old, employed, unemployed 

or entrepreneurial, rural or urban – many came 

out to hear, to learn, and of course, to share 

what they could on the topic: “Retirement Plan-

ning: Don’t Wait until It’s Too Late.”

The exposition took place on Tuesday, Novem-

ber 3, 2009 at the Jamaica Pegasus Hotel and 

began at 10:30 a.m. with the main address on 

the country’s pension system delivered by the 

Minister of Finance and the Public Service, the 

Hon. Audley Shaw.  His address followed that of 

the FSC’s Executive Director Rohan Barnett who 

spoke about the FSC’s role in pension supervi-

sion in his opening remarks.

A packed Jamaica Pegasus ballroom was an indication that the Expo was a resounding success
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Participants included senior offi cials from super-

visory authorities and agencies in Jamaica, oth-

er Caribbean states, Australia, Kenya and South 

Africa.  Presenters, who were aptly selected for 

their knowledge of and experience in the rele-

vant areas, provided extensive information and 

generated stimulating and insightful discussions.  

Upon completion of the workshop, participants 

gained signifi cant information and also benefi t-

ed from the interaction among themselves.

• licensees displaying new products and  

 services tailored to the individual 

 needs and limits of members of 

 the public. 

FSC hosts Regional Pensions Workshop
The FSC in collaboration with the International 

Association of Pension Supervisors (“IOPS”) and 

the Caribbean Regional Technical Assistance 

Agency (“CARTAC”) hosted a regional work-

shop on private pension supervision on October 

8-9, 2009 at the Half Moon Hotel 

in Montego Bay.

  

The workshop addressed a 

wide range of topics of interest 

to supervisory agencies in the 

Caribbean region as well as 

other countries globally.  The 

application and use of the in-

ternationally agreed IOPS prin-

ciples of private pension su-

pervision were discussed, as 

well as, the approaches to re-

inforcing supervisory coordina-

tion in the Caribbean region.  In particu-

lar, Caribbean participants and their global 

colleagues had an opportunity to discuss the 

development of a Caribbean Association of 

Pension Supervisors.

Right: Executive Director Rohan Barnett delivers 

Opening Remarks to participants representing 

suervisory agencies from Caribbean, African, 

European and North American territories at the 

IOPS Caribbean Workshop on Private Pension 

Supervision held in Montego Bay from Octo-

ber 8-9, 2009. Also present were (seated from 

left): Ross Jones, President of the International 

Organization of Pension Supervisors (IOPS); Ni-

colette Jenez, Senior Director of Pensions, FSC 

Jamaica; Aliya Wong Executive Director of Re-

tirement Policy, U.S Chamber of Commerce; 

and Howard “Skip” Edmonds, Financial Sector 

Supervision Advisor, Caribbean Regional Tech-

nical Assistance Centre (“CARTAC”).

 

Above:  Participants direct their full attention to one of the 

many presentations at the IOPS Caribbean Workshop on Pri-

vate Pension Supervision
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Lunch Hour Discussion - 
Compensation Schemes
A lunch hour discussion was held with the pub-

lic in August 2009.  This discussion sought to in-

troduce to the public the concept of a com-

pensation scheme for the non-deposit taking 

segments of Jamaica’s fi nancial sector and 

proposals for how such a scheme could be 

implemented.  Presentations were made by 

Ms Michelle Parnell, Lantern Corporation, Lead 

Consultant on Jamaica’s proposed compensa-

tion scheme plan and Mr George Roper, Depu-

ty Executive Director, FSC.  The very interactive 

session had many questions and concerns on 

the issue being presented and discussed.

Public Education Outreach to 
Communities, Schools and Colleges
In an effort to strengthen the public awareness 

of regulatory issues amongst students and the 

general public, the FSC organised and partici-

pated in a series of presentations at schools, 

fi nancial forums and public meetings.   The pre-

sentations covered Jamaica’s fi nancial system 

and the role and functions of the FSC.  Amongst 

the schools visited were the College of Arts, 

Science and Education (“CASE”), Campion 

College, University of the West Indies, and the 

University of Technology.  The Executive Director 

was also the main speaker at several events or-

ganised by licensees in the Securities, Insurance 

and Pensions sectors.  The topics presented fo-

cused on a number of emerging issues in the 

regulatory environment.

Bernard Richards addressed students at a Financial Education Forum held at the University of Technology on 

April 1, 2010. Presentations were delivered by Oran Hall, Financial Planning Consultant, Wentworth Graham,

Chief Regulatory Offi cer of the JSE and Nadene Newsome, Communications Manager of the FSC.”
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elements of new and revised regulatory stan-

dards. The presenters included Miss Shirley Ann 

Eaton, Attorney-At-Law and Mr. Orville Johnson, 

Executive Director, Insurance Association of Ja-

maica. 

The following topics were covered: 

• Impact of the Global Crisis on the 

 Insurance Industry; 

• Updates to the Proceeds of Crime Act  

 and Regulations, 2007; 

• Related Party Activities; 

 Settlement of Claims; and 

• Registration of Sales Representatives.   

CAPACITY-BUILDING 

During the period under review, approximate-

ly 78 percent of the current staff complement 

participated in forty-three (43) training courses, 

totalling approximately 2,000 contact hours 

and  accounting for ap-

proximately 89 percent 

of the training budget.  

The total expenditure for

the period is approxi-

mately $8 Million (exclud-

ing CDB/IDB funded pro-

grams).  This represents 

an increase of approximate-

ly 7 percent over the previ-

ous period.   These courses 

included in-house, local and 

overseas training.  Table 39 

indicates the different topics 

covered in the training pro-

grammes that were under-

taken in the review period.

MEDIA BRIEFING   
The FSC hosted media representatives at a 

briefi ng in February 2010 to disclose details per-

taining to (i) the lifting of the unit trust morato-

rium, (ii) the temporary freeze on the issuance 

of new securities licences to entities with a busi-

ness model centred on conducting repo trans-

actions,  and (iii) a status of the FSC’s work pro-

gramme.  The Minister of Finance and the Public 

Service as well as the FSC’s Executive Director 

addressed the media. 

SEMINARS
Insurance Seminar

The FSC engaged the insurance industry pro-

fessionals in a seminar entitled “The Regulator 

and You: The Insurance Industry in an Era of 

Global Change”.   This forum was designed to 

sensitize individuals, responsible for the strategic

direction and corporate governance of insur-

ance companies and intermediaries, to key 

The offi cial press briefi ng announcing the lifting of the moratorium on new unit trust scheme 

registration took place at the FSC’s headquarters in New Kingston. Participating were: (left) 

Rohan Barnett, Executive Director, FSC;  Hon. Audley Shaw (centre), Minister of Finance and 

the Public Service; and FSC Chairman Hon. Emil George OJ, QC
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Table 39:  List of Training Opportunities Accessed by Staff, 2009/2010
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Table 39:  List of Training Opportunities Accessed by Staff, 2009/2010 con’td.
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Licensing and Registration fees for the 2009/2010 

fi nancial year increased by approximately 7% 

when compared with the previous year.  This in-

crease in fees was due to the following:

• A 15% decrease in fees from the 

 securities industry due to signifi cant 

 decline in fees earned from the Stock  

 Exchange and JCSD. The fees earned  

 from the stock exchange/JCSD for  

 2009/10 was $12.1 million compared to 

 $53 million for 2008/2009.

• A 21% increase in fees from the 

 insurance industry due to the full 

 impact  of the fee adjustment which  

 became effective in the third quarter  

 of the 2008/2009 fi nancial year and an  

 increase in assets for the life and 

 general insurance companies of  

 16.4%.

• A 10% increase in fees from the 

 pensions industry due to growth in the  

 pension funds assets being managed  

 by investment managers/administra-

 tors.

Tables 40-42 provide details of the sources of 

fee income from the securities, insurance and 

pensions industries for 2009/2010 and the 

comparative 2008/2009.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The fi nancial statements that appear on pages 

82 to 102 in this annual report present the fi nan-

cial position, operating results and cash fl ows 

of the FSC in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards for the fi nancial 

year ended March 31, 2010.  The following com-

ments provide an analysis of the performance 

during the year and should be read in conjunc-

tion with the fi nancial statements.

Income and Expenditure

The Financial Services Commission (“FSC”) 

achieved a net surplus of $55.6 million com-

pared with the $17.3 million for the previous 

year.  Highlights of the income and expenditure 

are presented below:

Income
The FSC is funded mainly through fees charged 

to the licensed fi nancial institutions and private 

pension plans, which the FSC regulates and 

supervises.  The amount charged to individual 

institutions is determined according to the fees 

formulae set out in regulations.  In general, the 

system is designated to allocate the FSC’s costs 

based on the time spent supervising and regu-

lating each industry.

Costs are then charged to individual institutions 

within an industry based on the applicable for-

mula.  Fees as shown on the Income and Ex-

penditure statement include the following:

•  Licensing/Registration fees         $539.2 million

•  Fees from seminars/workshops         $.9 million

•  Foreign exchange gains                   $.7 million

•  Miscellaneous Income                       $.2 million

    Total                  $541.0 million
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         Table 40: Revenue from the Securities Industry 2009/2010 and 2008/2009

        Table 41: Revenue from the Insurance Industry 2009/2010 and 2008/2009

           Table 42: Revenue from the Pensions Industry 2009/20010 and 2008/2009  
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Interest Income for 2009/2010 was $22.4 million 

or 74% higher than the previous year due to 

the higher available cash balances during the 

year.

Grants

• Technical Assistance – CDB & IADB

 Technical assistance (“TA”) grants 

 represent amounts provided by the  

 Government of Jamaica under techni- 

 cal assistance loan/grant agreements  

 with the Caribbean Development 

 Bank (“CDB”) and the Inter-American  

 Development Bank (“IADB”).  TA grants  

 for the year from CDB were $12.75 and 

 from IADB $3.37 million.  The amount  

 from IADB was a re-imbursement for 

 expenses (training and conferences)  

 paid by the FSC in 2008/2009.

• Other

 The building occupied by the FSC, 

 rent-free without a lease agreement, is  

 owned by the National Land Agency

 (“NLA”). This government grant is 

 based on the average commercial 

 value of rent (per sq ft) in the New 

 Kingston area which for the 2009/2010  

 fi nancial year was estimated at $33.8  

 million. This grant used to off-set the  

 rental expense which would have 

 been incurred for the lease of the 

 building.

 The NLA and the FSC are in process  

 of negotiating a lease agreement. The  

 FSC has sought the intervention of the  

 Minister of Finance regarding the lease  

 proposed by the NLA.

Expenses

Total expenses for the 2009/2010 fi nancial year 

were $557.8 million, almost in line with the previ-

ous year of $553.4 million.  There are however, 

increase/reductions in some expenses, these 

include:

a) Appeal Tribunal 

 Expenses relating to the operation of 

 the FSC Appeal Tribunal of $473,703 

 for 2009/2010 were almost in line with  

 the amount of $403,749 for the pre-

 vious year. The low level of expenses 

 incurred for the Appeal Tribunal was  

 due to the fact that as at the end of  

 the fi nancial year , the fees for the  

 Chairman and members of the 

 Tribunal had not been approved by  

 the Minister of Finance.

b) Building Maintenance

 Building Maintenance increased by 

 29% for 2009/2010 when compared 

 with 2008/2009. This increase was due  

 in part to the new janitorial contract  

 which became effective July 2009 

 resulting in an increase of 41% in the 

 annual cost for janitorial service. In 

 addition to the normal routine 

 maintenance expenses for the 

 building, the FSC also incurred costs 

 to repair the roof on the third fl oor. 

c) Offi ce Expenses

 Offi ce expenses for the year were 

 $18.1 million an increase of 18.5%  

 when  compared with the previous  

 year of $15.3 million. This increase was  

 due primarily to infl ation (14.8% for the  

 fi scal year) and higher costs( for 

 toners) relating to the number of 

 printers.
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d) Professional Fees

 Professional fees of $9.3 million were  

 25.7% lower than the previous year 

 due to a reduction in the use of 

 outside attorneys.

e) Public Education Expenses

 Public education expenses of $9.9 mil- 

 lion was 38% lower than the previous  

 year due to the assistance received  

 from CARTAC in particular, with the  

 sponsorship of conferences hosted by  

 the FSC. 

f) Project Expenses

 Project expenses for the year were  

 $12.7 million compared with $19.4 

 million for 2008/2009. Project 

 expenses relate to fees for consul- 

 tancy and training provided under the  

 technical co-operation loan agree-

 ment between the Government of 

 Jamaica (‘GOJ”) and the Caribbean

  Development Bank and the grant 

 agreement between GOJ and the 

 Inter- American Development Bank.  

 Both technical assistance programmes  

 ended in the 2009/2010 fi nancial year.

g) The Cost of Utilities

 The costs for utilities for the year were  

 $17.7 million an increase of 13.7%, due  

 to infl ation. 

Balance Sheet

1) Liquidity

 The FSC ended the year with cash and  

 cash equivalents of $17.74 compared  

 with the $37.6 million at the end of 

 the 2008/2009 fi nancial year. Resale  

 agreements (short term investments)  

 were $242.3 million which was $103.5  

 million higher than the previous year.  

 This was due primarily to a more 

 

 aggressive approach to the collection  

 of licensing/registration fees with the  

 implementation of an invoicing 

 system. 

2) Accounts Receivable and 

 Prepayments

 Accounts Receivable and Prepay- 

 ments at $74.7 million was $27.9 

 million lower than the previous year.  

 Accounts receivable was $68.4 million  

 or 28.7% lower than the previous year  

 of $96 million (refer to note 4) due to  

 more aggressive approach to the 

 collection of licensing fees. The 

 amount   shown as receivable relate 

 to insurance fees which are paid 

 quarterly in arrears. Fees for quarter  

 ending March 31, 2010 would be due  

 for payment in April 2010.

3) Property Plant and Equipment

 Property, plant and equipment at the  

 end of the year was $53.1 million (net  

 of depreciation) or $12.1 million higher  

 than the previous year due to increas-

 es in leasehold improvements and  

 computer equipment.

            Executive Director

              Rohan Barnett
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Name of Commissioner Fees 

Motor Vehicle 

Upkeep/Travelling or 

Value of Assignment of 

Motor Vehicle Honoraria  

All Other 

Compensation 

including Non-Cash 

Benefits as applicable Total 

Emil George - Chairman 0.0 0.0 500.0 0.0 500.0

Dayle Blair 0.0 57.6 207.0 0.0 264.6

Roald Henriques 0.0 0.0 171.0 0.0 171.0

Peter Wilson 0.0 0.0 186.0 0.0 186.0

Celia Brown - Blake 0.0 0.0 208.5 0.0 208.5

Audrey Welds 0.0 0.0 87.0 0.0 87.0

Shirley Williams 0.0 0.0 204.0 0.0 204.0

David Tennant 0.0 0.0 228.0 0.0 228.0

Dennis Boothe 0.0 0.0 273.0 0.0 273.0

Total 0.0 57.6 2,064.5 0.0 2,122.1

$ '000

                 Table 43:  Compensation of Commissioners 2009/2010 ($ ‘000)

               Table 44:  Compensation of Executive Management 2009/2010

NOTE - Executive Management includes the Executive Director, Deputy Executive Director, Senior Directors (4), Chief Actuary (1), Directors (2), and 

General Counsel (1).  Each member of Executive Management is on contract and is therefore not a member of the FSC’s pension plan.  The members 

of the Executive Management are, however, eligible for health insurance coverage by the FSC’s group health plan.

1.  Basic Salary Range of Executive Management

a)  Director $3,836,590 - $4,795,737

b) Senior Director and General Counsel $4,957, 391 - $6,072,804

c) Chief Actuary $5,599,226 - $7,558,956

d)  Deputy Executive Director $6,203,821 - $7,559,681

        e)  Executive Director $10,800,000 per annum

2.  Allowances

   Motor Vehicle 

a) Executive Director Fully maintained company car

b) Other Executive Management $796,500 per annum

Housing 

 Executive Director $4,432,680 per annum

3. Gratuity in Lieu of Pension 25% per annum basic salary
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The statutory duties and responsibilities of the 

FSC and the regulatory provisions governing fi -

nancial services in the areas of insurance, pen-

sions and securities are stipulated in a number 

of laws.  The following is a brief summary of the 

laws currently in effect.

The Financial Services (FSC Act) – enacted in 

2001 and amended in 2004; it provides for the 

basic functions and responsibilities of the FSC.

The Financial Services (Overseas Regulatory 

Authority) (Disclosure) Regulations – promulgat-

ed in 2005.  The regulations give the FSC the au-

thority to provide information and documents, 

as the FSC deems appropriate, in response to 

a request made by an overseas regulatory au-

thority.

The Insurance Act – enacted in 2001; it provides 

for the regulation of insurance business in Ja-

maica.

The Insurance Regulations – promulgated in 

2001 and last amended in 2004; they provide 

detailed rules and regulations governing indi-

viduals and companies operating in the insur-

ance industry.

The Insurance (Actuaries) (Life Insurance Com-

panies) Regulations – promulgated in 2001; 

these regulations set out the rules governing 

the preparation of actuarial reports and the 

business conduct of actuaries for life insurance 

companies.

The Insurance (Actuaries) (General Insurance 

Companies) Regulations – promulgated in 

2002; these regulations set out the rules govern-

ing the preparation of actuarial reports and the 

business conduct of actuaries for general insur-

ance companies.

The Insurance (Prescribed Sum) Regula-

tions – promulgated in 2004; these regulations 

prescribe the amount payable by an insurer to 

an individual who satisfi es the insurer that he is 

entitled to obtain probate of the will of the de-

ceased person or to take out letters of admin-

istration.

The Securities Act – enacted in 1993 and last 

amended in 2001; the Act provides for the li-

censing, operation and supervision of entities 

dealing in securities as well as regulation of the 

capital markets.

The Securities (Licensing and Registration) Reg-

ulations – promulgated in 1996 and  amended 

in 2003 and 2008; these regulations provide for 

the licensing and registration of dealers, invest-

ment advisers, their representatives and respon-

sible offi cers.

The Securities (Conduct of Business) Regula-

tions – promulgated in 1999 and last amended 

in 2003; these regulations deal with the dealer/

client relationship and guidelines for fi ling of fi -

nancial information by licensed dealers.

FSC STATUTES & REGULATIONS



The Unit Trusts (Amendment of Schedule to Prin-

cipal Act) Regulations - promulgated in 2009; 

these regulations outline obligations that any 

unit trust must satisfy.  

The Pensions (Superannuation Funds and Retire-

ment Schemes) Act – enacted in September 

2004 and amended in March 2005 and March 

2006; the Act provided for the licensing, opera-

tion and supervision of entities in the pensions 

industry. 

The Pensions (Superannuation Funds and Retire-

ment Schemes) (Specifi ed Pension Funds and 

Specifi ed Pensions Scheme) Regulations, 2006 

– promulgated on March 11, 2006; these regula-

tions defi ne the meaning of “specifi ed pension 

fund” or “specifi ed pension scheme”.

The Pensions (Superannuation Funds and Re-

tirement Schemes) (Registration, Licensing and 

Reporting) Regulations, 2006 – promulgated on 

March 29, 2006;  these regulations describe the

conditions for the licensing and registration of 

schemes, funds, investment managers, admin-

istrators and other key persons.

The Pensions (Superannuation Funds and Re-

tirement Schemes) (Governance) Regulations, 

2006 – promulgated on March 29, 2006; these 

regulations outline the operational procedures 

for those who preside over pensions funds and 

retirement schemes. 

The Pensions (Superannuation Funds and Retire-

ment Schemes) (Investment) Regulations, 2006 

– promulgated on March 29, 2006; these regu-

lations provide detailed rules and guidelines for 

trustees and investment managers to prudently 

invest and manage the assets that fall under 

their responsibility.

The Securities (Disclosure of Interest) Regula-

tions – promulgated in 1999; these provide for 

the disclosure of information relating to public 

companies as well as issuers of commercial pa-

per.

The Securities (Mutual Funds) Regulations – pro-

mulgated in 1999; these regulations stipulate the 

rules for the business operation and supervision

of mutual funds.  The regulations also contain

specifi c provisions concerning the protection of 

investors.

The Securities (Take-Overs and Mergers) Regu-

lations – promulgated in 1999 and amended in 

2000; these regulations deal with mergers and 

acquisitions of public companies.

The Securities (Central Securities Depository) 

Regulations – promulgated in 2000 and amend-

ed in 2002; these regulations deal with the op-

erational procedures of a central securities de-

pository.

The Unit Trusts Act – enacted in 1971 and last 

amended in 2001; the Act governs the opera-

tion of unit trusts.

The Unit Trusts (Nominees) Regulations - promul-

gated in 2009; these regulations set out the cri-

teria for a prospective nominee to be approved 

by the FSC.

The Unit Trusts (Registration of Schemes) Regula-

tions – promulgated in 1971 and amended in 

2009; these regulations govern the process of 

registration unit trusts.

The Unit Trusts (Books and Document) Regula-

tions – promulgated in 1973 and amended in 

2009; these regulations deal with the books and 

records which should be maintained by unit 

trusts.
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List of Registered & Licensed Entities/Individuals 

as at March 31, 2010
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NOTE -  10 Asterisks indicate individual dealers who are associated with a company that is also licensed as a dealer

11  Grace Caribbean Fixed Income Fund changed its name to GK Caribbean Fixed Income Fund

12  JMMB Select Index Fund changed its name to Jamaica Select Index Fund

13   This Unit Trust Scheme has three portfolios, namely, Sigma Fixed Income Fund, Sigma Optima Fund and Sigma Real Estate Fund.  Therefore there   

        are 10 types of unit trust products being offered



d) Professional Fees

 Professional fees of $9.3 million were  

 25.7% lower than the previous year 

 due to a reduction in the use of 

 outside attorneys.

e) Public Education Expenses

 Public education expenses of $9.9 mil- 

 lion was 38% lower than the previous  

 year due to the assistance received  

 from CARTAC in particular, with the  

 sponsorship of conferences hosted by  

 the FSC. 

f) Project Expenses

 Project expenses for the year were  

 $12.7 million compared with $19.4 

 million for 2008/2009. Project 

 expenses relate to fees for consul- 

 tancy and training provided under the  

 technical co-operation loan agree-

 ment between the Government of 

 Jamaica (‘GOJ”) and the Caribbean

  Development Bank and the grant 

 agreement between GOJ and the 

 Inter- American Development Bank.  

 Both technical assistance programmes  

 ended in the 2009/2010 fi nancial year.

g) The Cost of Utilities

 The costs for utilities for the year were  

 $17.7 million an increase of 13.7%, due  

 to infl ation. 

Balance Sheet

1) Liquidity

 The FSC ended the year with cash and  

 cash equivalents of $17.74 compared  

 with the $37.6 million at the end of 

 the 2008/2009 fi nancial year. Resale  

 agreements (short term investments)  

 were $242.3 million which was $103.5  

 million higher than the previous year.  

 This was due primarily to a more 

 

 aggressive approach to the collection  

 of licensing/registration fees with the  

 implementation of an invoicing 

 system. 

2) Accounts Receivable and 

 Prepayments

 Accounts Receivable and Prepay- 

 ments at $74.7 million was $27.9 

 million lower than the previous year.  

 Accounts receivable was $68.4 million  

 or 28.7% lower than the previous year  

 of $96 million (refer to note 4) due to  

 more aggressive approach to the 

 collection of licensing fees. The 

 amount   shown as receivable relate 

 to insurance fees which are paid 

 quarterly in arrears. Fees for quarter  

 ending March 31, 2010 would be due  

 for payment in April 2010.

3) Property Plant and Equipment

 Property, plant and equipment at the  

 end of the year was $53.1 million (net  

 of depreciation) or $12.1 million higher  

 than the previous year due to increas-

 es in leasehold improvements and  

 computer equipment.

75   Review of Financial Performance

� �

� �

���������	
���	�	����������	�������	�����������������������

�� ���	���������	�$� %���	�� *	�	������������	�$� %���	��

�� %)���"����#�3���
�����!�����+�

�� ����-��	���
�#�3���
�����%��
��+�

��������

�� 	��
������������������ ���
�����?��������
�����%��
��+�

�� �%��3���
�����%��
��+��������� �
����'�%�
�22����3���
�����%��
��+���������

$� !�-���
�����������������������

	���
�#����������3���
�������������%��
��+�

��������

�� !�������������������3���
�����%��
��+��������� 	#�2��3���
�����%��
��+��������������������

*� �� 3�#����?�
���-��3���
�����%��
��+���������

�� ��

��������3���
�������#�3���
�����%��
��+�

��������

.� �� ,�+�3���
�����%��
��+���������

0� �� �1"�3���
�����%��
��+�5�������6���������

�4� �� �'��3���
�����%��
��+����=����3��������������

��� �� 8����
���"����#�3���
�����%��
��+���������

��� ��

=����3�������##������3���
�����%��
��+�

��������

�� �� ��

�� ��������	��
	���� ���������������(��	�+���	���

�� �����������;<��
��3���
�����5�-����6��������� �#�+���

�� %'����##�
�3���
������-���+��������� ��

�� %
��'����3���
������-���+��������� ��

$� /�
�����
-������@���
�B�3���
������-����� ��

��

	�
�'���"����-'#����@��	#�2�#�7����

"���-������3���
������-����� ��

*� "����#�1���


�����53���
����6��-������������� ��

��

������<����3���
������-���������%����#������

�������� ��

.� �)%!�%�(�
�
��� ��3���
�����!�
 ������������� ��

0�

���#����'��+�!��
���9�	���
�#�3���
�����

�-���� ��

�4� 7� ��
��3���
������-���+��������� ��

�



  Review of Financial Performance    76  

� �

� �

�� ���������	
���	�	����������	�������	�����������������������

�� ��������	�,��-	��� '���������	�����	 	���,��-	���

�� �##����3���
������
���
���������� �##����3���
������
���
����������

�� ����
������
���
��������������������� ����
������
���
���������������������

�� ��##+�%
��-�3���
������
���
���������� ��##+�%
��-�3���
������
���
����������

$� %�
�22��������
������
���
���������� %�
�22��������
������
���
����������

�� %	"�	�##�-'�
�3���
������
���
������������������

%	"�	�##�-'�
�3���
������
���
����������

��������

*� %��+�3���
������
���
���������� %��+�3���
������
���
����������

�� %� ������3���
������
���
���������� /�������"��
�3���
������
���
����������

.� /�������"��
�3���
������
���
���������� 1B��#�3���
������
���
��

0� 1B��#�3���
������
���
�� ��
��3���
������
���
����������

�4� ��
��3���
������
���
����������

�
���
����������&�,��-���������3���
�����

�
���
��

��� �
���
����������&�,��-���������3���
������
���
�� 	��
�����3���
������
���
����������

��� 	1"�3���
������
���
���������� �""��3���
������
���
����������

��� 	�������3���
������
���
���������� ��<��3���
������
���
����������

�$� 	��
�����3���
������
���
���������� "�
��'���3���
������
���
����������

��� ��������%�����#�3���
������
���
���������� "�
������	���
�#�3���
������
���
����������

�*� �""��3���
������
���
���������� "����#�!���
��+�3���
������
���
����������

��� ��<��3���
������
���
����������

�������#��
�
�
�+�&�	���
�#�3���
�����

�
���
����������

�.� "�
��'���3���
������
���
���������� !�-���
�3���
������
���
����������

�0� "�
������	���
�#�3���
������
���
���������� !
���
���3���
������
���
����������

�4� "����#�!���
��+�3���
������
���
����������

�'<�������������!'�

�3���
������
���
��

��������

���

�������#��
�
�
�+�&�	���
�#�3���
������
���
��

�������� D����'�3���
������
���
����������

��� ;
����3���
������
���
���������� ��

��� �
�-
���� ��3���
������
���
���������� ��

�$� !�-���
�3���
������
���
���������� ��

��� !�#������������	���
�#�3���
������
���
���������� ��

�*� !
���
���3���
������
���
���������� ��

��� �'<�������������!'�

�3���
������
���
���������� ��

�.� D����'�3���
������
���
���������� ��

�� �� ��

�� .�	��	����	��������	�,��-	��� �������	��������	�,��-	��

�� ������#�����������

%	"�	�##�-'�
�3���
������
���
����������

��������

�� �>�>������ ��

�



d) Professional Fees

 Professional fees of $9.3 million were  

 25.7% lower than the previous year 

 due to a reduction in the use of 

 outside attorneys.

e) Public Education Expenses

 Public education expenses of $9.9 mil- 

 lion was 38% lower than the previous  

 year due to the assistance received  

 from CARTAC in particular, with the  

 sponsorship of conferences hosted by  

 the FSC. 

f) Project Expenses

 Project expenses for the year were  

 $12.7 million compared with $19.4 

 million for 2008/2009. Project 

 expenses relate to fees for consul- 

 tancy and training provided under the  

 technical co-operation loan agree-

 ment between the Government of 

 Jamaica (‘GOJ”) and the Caribbean

  Development Bank and the grant 

 agreement between GOJ and the 

 Inter- American Development Bank.  

 Both technical assistance programmes  

 ended in the 2009/2010 fi nancial year.

g) The Cost of Utilities

 The costs for utilities for the year were  

 $17.7 million an increase of 13.7%, due  

 to infl ation. 

Balance Sheet

1) Liquidity

 The FSC ended the year with cash and  

 cash equivalents of $17.74 compared  

 with the $37.6 million at the end of 

 the 2008/2009 fi nancial year. Resale  

 agreements (short term investments)  

 were $242.3 million which was $103.5  

 million higher than the previous year.  

 This was due primarily to a more 

 

 aggressive approach to the collection  

 of licensing/registration fees with the  

 implementation of an invoicing 

 system. 

2) Accounts Receivable and 

 Prepayments

 Accounts Receivable and Prepay- 

 ments at $74.7 million was $27.9 

 million lower than the previous year.  

 Accounts receivable was $68.4 million  

 or 28.7% lower than the previous year  

 of $96 million (refer to note 4) due to  

 more aggressive approach to the 

 collection of licensing fees. The 

 amount   shown as receivable relate 

 to insurance fees which are paid 

 quarterly in arrears. Fees for quarter  

 ending March 31, 2010 would be due  

 for payment in April 2010.

3) Property Plant and Equipment

 Property, plant and equipment at the  

 end of the year was $53.1 million (net  

 of depreciation) or $12.1 million higher  

 than the previous year due to increas-

 es in leasehold improvements and  

 computer equipment.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Members of  

FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the financial statements of Financial Services Commission (Commission) set 

out on pages 3 to 23, which comprise the balance sheet as at March 31, 2010 the statements of 

comprehensive  income, changes in reserves and cash flows for the year then ended, a summary 

of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes 

designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, selecting and consistently applying appropriate accounting policies and making 

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.  We 

conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards 

require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance as to whether or not the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence relating to the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditors 

consider internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity's internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion. 

 

out on pages 82-102, which comprise the balance sheet as a March 31, 2010 the statements of
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2 

 

To the Members of  

FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION 

 

 

Report on the Financial Statements, cont’d 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained and the financial statements, 

which are in agreement therewith,  give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Commission as at March 31, 2010, and of its financial performance, changes in reserves and 

cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. 

 

 

 

 

 

Chartered Accountants 

Kingston, Jamaica 

 

 

September 23, 2010 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION
Statement of Financial Position
March 31,2010

 
 
 
 Notes 2010  2009 
 
CURRENT ASSETS 
 Cash and cash equivalents  17,743,434 37,597,721 
 Resale agreements 3 242,303,271 138,815,810 
 Accounts receivable and prepayments 4 74,744,439 102,676,434 
 Taxation recoverable 5   15,003,416   11,958,179 

  349,794,560 291,048,144 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 Accounts payable 6 47,424,521 40,601,324 
 Deferred fees  192,866,415 183,960,436 

   240,290,936 224,561,760 
 
NET CURRENT ASSETS 109,503,624 66,486,384 
 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 Intangible assets 7 11,247,462 10,748,584 
 Property, plant & equipment 8   53,099,971   40,975,027 

   $173,851,057 118,209,995 
 
Financed by: 
RESERVES 9 $173,851,057 118,209,995 
 
 
The financial statements on pages 3 to 23 were approved by the Board of Commissioners  
on September 23, 2010, and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
_______________________ Chairman 
Hon. Emil George O.J Q.C 
 
 
 
_______________________ Commissioner  
Dennis Boothe 
 
 
 

82-102

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 



 

 
 
 Notes 2010 2009 
 
INCOME 
 Fees  541,072,435 505,608,601 
 Interest income    22,437,874   12,870,123 

   563,510,309 518,478,724 
 
EXPENSES 
 Advertising  3,241,714 3,019,701 
 Appeal Tribunal  473,703 403,749 
 Audit  1,530,000 1,350,000 
 Bad debt expense  -        8,937,684 
 Bank charges  452,399 56,423 
 Building maintenance  6,090,562 4,721,709* 
 Commissioners' fees  2,367,738 2,519,376 
 Depreciation and amortisation  23,796,735 26,297,255 
 Motor vehicle and parking expenses  7,183,197 7,785,798 
 Office expenses  18,117,328 15,279,755 
 Printing and stationery  2,934,390 2,530,121 
 Professional fees  9,293,633 12,513,264* 
 Project expenses  12,752,876 19,411,394 
 Public education  9,879,984 15,959,561 
 Rent 10(ii) 33,800,000 30,800,000* 
 Staff costs  385,040,402 362,800,095 
 Subscriptions  8,914,970 7,602,034 
 Training and conferences  14,242,174   15,882,520 
 Utilities    17,679,571    15,547,809 

   557,791,376 553,418,248 

 Surplus/(deficit) for the year   5,718,933 (  34,939,524) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 Grants  10   49,922,129   52,267,651* 

Total comprehensive income for the year   $  55,641,062   17,328,127 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Reclassified to conform to 2010 presentation. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31,2010
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION
Statement of Changes in Reserves
Year ended March 31,2010
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION
Statement of Cash Flow
Year ended March 31,2010

 

 
 2010 2009 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 Surplus/(deficit) for the year  5,718,933 (34,939,524)* 
 Adjustments for: 
  Depreciation and amortisation  23,796,735 26,297,255 
  Gain on disposal of property, plant & equipment (         60,000) -          
 Interest income (  22,437,874) (12,870,123) 

  7,017,794 (21,512,392) 
 (Increase)/decrease in current assets: 
  Resale agreements  (103,487,461) (48,815,810) 
  Accounts receivable and prepayments  26,501,694 (16,012,720) 
  Taxation recoverable  (    3,045,237)      1,867,602 
 
 Increase in current liabilities: 
  Accounts payable  6,823,197 10,535,757 
  Deferred fees      8,905,979 63,047,991 

 Net cash used by operating activities  (  57,284,034) (10,889,572) 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 Additions to property, plant & equipment  (  35,817,211) (27,111,470) 
 Additions to intangible assets  (       603,346) ( 1,533,975) 
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 60,000 -         
 Interest received     23,868,175 11,366,991 

 Net cash used by investing activities  (  12,492,382) (17,278,454) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 Grants, being  
 net cash provided by financing activities    49,922,129 52,267,651* 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (  19,854,287) 24,099,625 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year    37,597,721 13,498,096 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  $  17,743,434 37,597,721 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Reclassified to conform to 2010 presentation. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 



 

 

 

1. The Commission 

 

 The Financial Services Commission (Commission) is a statutory, not-for-profit organization 

established under the Financial Services Commission Act, 2001 (Act).  It is domiciled in Jamaica 

and its principal place of business is located at 39 - 43 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5. 

 

 The principal functions of the Commission are as stated in Section 6 (1) of the Act, which states: 

 

 For the purpose of protecting customers of financial services, the Commission shall: 

 

a) supervise and regulate prescribed financial institutions; 

b) promote the adoption of procedures designed to control and manage risk, for use by the 

management, boards of directors and trustees of such institutions; 

c) promote stability and public confidence in the operations of such institutions; 

d) promote public understanding of the operation of prescribed financial institutions; 

e) promote the modernisation of financial services with a view to the adoption and 

maintenance of international standards of competence, efficiency and competitiveness. 

 

 On August 2, 2001, all assets, rights and liabilities of the Securities Commission in existence on 

that date were transferred to and vested in the Commission which commenced operations on that 

day. On the same date the Commission assumed responsibility for Unit Trusts under the Unit 

Trusts (Amendment) Act, 2001. With the passing of the Insurance Act 2001, the Commission 

also assumed regulatory responsibility for the insurance industry, on the appointed day 

(December 21, 2001). 

 

 During the previous years, the Government of Jamaica (GOJ) through its agencies, the 

Superintendent of Insurance and the Financial Sector Adjustment Company, donated certain 

property, plant and equipment to the Commission.  These assets were brought in at valuation 

which was subsequently deemed to be cost on first-time adoption of IFRS in year ended March 

31, 2004. 

 

 At March 31, 2010 the Commission had in its employment 116 (2009:116) employees, out of a 

Board approved establishment of 120 (2009:129) employees. 

 

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and accounting policies 

 

(a) Statement of compliance: 
 

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), and their interpretations, issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board. 
 

New standards and interpretations effective during the year 

The following relevant new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations 

become effective during the year as follows: 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31,2010
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

March 31,2010



 

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and accounting policies (cont'd) 

 

(c) Use of estimates and judgments: 

 

 The preparation of the financial statements to conform to IFRS requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 

contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date and the income and 

expenses for the year then ended.  Actual amounts could differ from those estimates. 

 

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.  Management has exercised judgement in 

the application of IFRS that has significant effect on the financial statements and estimates 

with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next financial year are discussed 

below: 

 

(i) Allowance for impairment losses on receivables: 

 

In determining amounts recorded for impairment losses in the financial statements, 

management makes judgement regarding indicators of impairment, that is, whether 

there are indicators that suggest that there may be a measurable decrease in the 

estimated future cash flows from receivables, for example, default and adverse 

economic conditions.  Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated future 

cash flows from impaired receivables as well as the timing of such cash flows.  

Historical loss experience is applied where indicators of impairment are not observable 

on individual significant receivables with similar characteristics, such as credit risks. 

 

(ii) Contingencies: 

 

In the ordinary course of operations, the Commission may encounter suits and/or 

counter-suits in the performance of its functions.  Such actions may, or may not, result 

in liability to the Commission and management assesses the potential for liability in 

conjunction with legal counsel and provision is made accordingly. 

 

It is reasonably probable, based on existing knowledge, that outcomes within the next 

financial year that are different from these assumptions could require a material 

adjustment to the carrying amount reflected in the financial statements. 

 

(d) Grants: 

 

 Monetary grants are accounted for on the cash basis. Grants in kind are accounted for 

when the services or assets are received by the Commission. 
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2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and accounting policies (cont'd) 

 
(e) Property, plant & equipment and intangible assets: 

 

( i) Owned assets: 

 

Items of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets are stated at cost, less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses [note 2(n)]. 

 

Intangible assets include computer software and security system software. 

 

  (ii) Subsequent costs: 

 

 The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized 

in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 

embodied within the part will flow to the entity and its cost can be measured 

reliably.  The cost of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are 

recognised in the comprehensive income statement.   

 

(f) Depreciation and amortisation: 

 

Property, plant & equipment and intangible assets are depreciated/amortised on the 

straight-line basis at annual rates to write down the assets to their estimated residual 

values over their expected useful lives.  The depreciation rates are as follows: 

 

   Motor vehicles 20%  

   Office furniture and equipment 10% & 25% 

   Computer equipment and software 25%  

  

 The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting 

date. 

 

 (g) Capital expenditure: 

 

  Amounts utilized from government grants for the purchase of property, plant & equipment, 

including donated assets and advances to secure future purchases, are transferred to capital 

reserve.  An amount equivalent to the annual depreciation charge on the relevant property, 

plant & equipment is transferred from capital reserve to the general fund.   
 

 (h) Cash and cash equivalents: 
 

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances. 
 

(i) Resale agreements: 
 

Resale agreements (reverse repo) are short-term transactions whereby the Commission buys 

securities and simultaneously agrees to resell the securities on a specified date and at a 

specified price. Title to the security is not actually transferred, unless the counterparty fails 

to comply with the terms of the contract 



 

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and accounting policies (cont'd) 

 

(i) Resale agreements (cont’d): 

 

Reverse repos are accounted for as short-term collateralised lending. Reverse repos are 

classified as originated loans and receivables and measured at amortised cost. 

 

The difference between the sale and repurchase considerations is recognised on the accrual 

basis over the period of the transaction and is included in interest income. 

 

 (j) Accounts receivable: 

 

 Accounts receivable are stated at their cost, less impairment losses. 

 

(k) Accounts payable: 

 

Accounts payable are stated at amortised cost. 

 

 (l) Provisions: 

 

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Commission has a legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the 

amount can be made.  If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting 

the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 

the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

 

 (m) Fees: 

 

 i. Securities 

 

  Application fees for registration as dealers, dealers’ representatives, responsible 

officers, investment advisers and mutual funds, which are payable on application along 

with fees from commercial paper, are taken to income on receipt.  Annual license fees 

from dealers, dealers’ representatives, responsible officers, investment advisers and 

mutual funds are deferred and recognized as income in the period to which they relate.  

Fees from traders on the stock exchange are recognized as income in the year to which 

they relate.  
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2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and accounting policies (cont'd) 
 
 (m) Fees (cont’d): 
 
 i. Securities (cont’d) 
 
  In accordance with the Securities (Licensing and Registration) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2008 which came into effect on October 1, 2008, fees are calculated using 
“the greater of: 

 

( i) $500,000; or 
 

(ii) The aggregate of - 5 basis points on the 1st $5 billion of total assets; and 
     - 1.5 basis points on the next $25 billion of total assets; and 
   - 75/100 basis points on total assets over $30 billion.” 
 

For the purpose of the fee calculation, items (i) or (ii) “assets” is taken to mean: 
 

(a) the “aggregate total of a dealer’s balance sheet assets as at the 31st December 
of the year immediately prior to the anniversary of the grant of the licence 
taken without the netting of its liabilities plus the aggregate value, at that date, 
of securities or other investment instruments held or managed on behalf of 
clients whether on a discretionary or non discretionary basis; or 

 

(b) in the case of a unit trust and overseas mutual funds, the net value of 
securities sold by or through the dealer during the year ending on the 31st 
December immediately prior to the anniversary of the grant of its licence”. 

 
ii. Insurance 
 

Fees for new registrations for insurance companies, agents, brokers, sales 
representatives and other insurance intermediaries are taken to income on receipt. 
Renewal fees from insurance companies are recognized as income in the year to which 
they relate.   
 
Previously, in accordance with the amended 20th schedule, which came into effect on 
October 1, 2003, renewal fees for Intermediaries were the greater of the fee indicated 
on the amended 20th schedule or 0.5% of earned commissions.  Fees for General & 
Life Insurance companies were based on assets as outlined in the amended 20th 
schedule. 

 
Renewal Fees – Insurance Companies 

 
(1) Jamaican and CARICOM Life/Sickness & Health Insurance Companies 

 
A fee of $1 million, or the sum of: 
First $5 billion of total assets at 0.14%; 
Second $5 billion of total assets at 0.07%; and 
Total assets in excess of $10 billion at 0.04%, whichever is greater. 



 
2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and accounting policies (cont'd) 
 
 (m) Fees (cont’d): 

 
ii. Insurance (cont’d) 

 
Renewal Fees – Insurance Companies (cont’d) 

 
(2) Jamaican and CARICOM General Insurance Companies 

 
In accordance with the amended 20th schedule which came into effect on 
November 1, 2008, the new fee structure for Jamaican and CARICOM General 
Insurance Companies are the aggregate of a fixed amount of $4.7 million and an 
amount equivalent to 0.20% of total assets. 

 
(3) Foreign Companies – Life/Sickness & Health and General Insurers 

 
The fee will be charged on the above bases at (1) and (2), as amended, but on 
assets relating to liabilities in Jamaica only. 
 
For the purpose of the fee computation, “Total Assets” are as shown in the 
annual statements as at December 31, of the previous year. 

 
 iii. Pension 

 
The licensing fee payable by Investment Managers and Administrators is one tenth of 
one percent of the total assets under management as at December 31 of the previous 
year. 
 
For the purpose of the fee computation, “total assets” are as shown in the annual 
statements as at December 31, immediately prior to the renewal date. 
 

(n) Impairment: 
 

 The carrying amounts of the Commission’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.  An impairment 
loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in the comprehensive 
income statement. 
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2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and accounting policies (cont'd) 

 

(n) Impairment (cont’d): 

 

( i) Calculation of recoverable amounts: 

 

The recoverable amount of the Commission’s receivables is calculated as the present 

value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate 

inherent in the asset.  Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. 

 

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and 

value in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an 

asset that does not generate independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is 

determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 

(ii) Reversals of impairment: 

 An impairment loss in respect of receivables is reversed if the subsequent increase in 

recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment loss was recognised.  For all other assets, an impairment loss is reversed 

if there has been a change in the estimate used to determine the recoverable amount. 
 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, if no 

impairment loss had been recognised.  

 

 (o) Foreign currencies: 
 

 Foreign currency balances outstanding at the balance sheet date are translated at the rates 

of exchange ruling on that date.  Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the 

rates of exchange ruling at the dates of those transactions. Gains and losses arising from 

fluctuations in exchange rates are included in the comprehensive income statement.  

 

 (p) Financial instruments: 

 

  A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise 

and a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.  For the purpose of the 

financial statements, financial assets have been determined to include cash and cash 

equivalents, resale agreements, accounts receivable and prepayments.  Similarly, financial 

liabilities include accounts payable and deferred fees. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and accounting policies (cont'd) 

 

 (q) Related parties: 

 

 A party is related to an entity if: 

 

 (  i) directly or indirectly, the party: 

• controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the entity; 

• has an interest in the entity that gives it significant influence over the entity; or 

• has joint control over the entity. 

 

(ii) the party is an associate of the entity; 

 

(iii) the party is a joint venture in which the entity is a venturer; 

 

(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the entity. Such personnel 

are persons having authority and responsibilities for planning, directing and 

controlling the activities of the entity whether directly or indirectly and whether 

through an executive or non-executive role: 

 

(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv); 

 

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced 

by, or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or 

indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or 

 

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the entity, 

or of any entity that is a related party of the entity. 

 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related 

parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. The Commission has a related party 

relationship with the Government of Jamaica and its agencies, Commissioners and other key 

management personnel. 

 

(r) Determination of fair value: 

 

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the arm’s length consideration that would be 

currently agreed upon between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no 

compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists.  Where 

quoted market prices are not available, the fair values of financial instruments have been 

determined, where practicable, using a generally accepted alternative method.   

 

However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop 

estimates of fair value and even greater judgment where there is no public or over-the-

counter market.  Accordingly, the estimates presented below are not necessarily indicative 

of the amounts that the company would receive on realisation of its financial assets or 

would pay to settle its financial liabilities in a current market exchange. 
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3. Resale agreements 
 

Resale agreements represent purchases of Government of Jamaica Local Registered Stocks by 
the Commission from a broker under agreement to resell them on specified dates (within a year), 
at specified amounts. 
 
The interest rates on resale agreements were 9 %and 9.5% (2009: 17.25% and 12%) as at the 
year-end.  The market value of the underlying securities as at March 31, 2010 was 
approximately $251,429,173 (2009: J$139,800,000). 

 
The Commission’s exposure to credit and currency risks relating to resale agreements are 
disclosed in note 14. 

 
4. Accounts receivable 
 

    2010 2009 

Trade receivables, net [note 14(b)(i)]  68,484,341 96,071,300 
Prepayments and deposits  5,574,415 4,395,842 
Other receivables  108,978 202,286 
Interest receivable       576,705     2,007,006 

    $74,744,439 102,676,434 
 
 
Trade receivables are shown net of an allowance for impairment losses of $Nil (2009: 
$4,121,000). 

 
The Commission’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses relating to trade 
and other receivables are disclosed in note 14. 

 
 
5. Taxation recoverable 
 

Taxation recoverable represents tax withheld by financial institutions on interest income earned 
on balances held with those institutions.  Taxation recoverable is shown net of a provision for 
impairment loss of $Nil (2009: $4,816,684). 

 
 
6. Accounts payable 
    2010 2009 

 
Trade and other payables  19,020,444 16,248,442 
Employee benefits –accrued vacation and gratuities 28,404,077 24,352,882 

    $47,424,521 40,601,324 
 

The Commission’s exposure to liquidity and currency risks relating to trade and other payables 
are disclosed in note 14. 



 

 
7. Intangible assets 

 

These represent software cost capitalized as follows: 
   2010 2009 

Cost: 
At beginning of year 33,224,010 31,690,035 
Additions      603,346   1,533,975 

At end of year 33,827,356 33,224,010 
 

Amortisation: 
At beginning of year 22,475,426 16,416,366 
Charge for the year      104,468   6,059,060 

At end of year 22,579,894 22,475,426 

Net book value  $11,247,462 10,748,584 

 
8. Property, plant & equipment 
   Office furniture, 
   equipment and 
  Motor leasehold Computer 
  vehicles improvements equipment Total 
 At cost: 
  March 31, 2008 5,291,781 52,151,560 37,593,633 95,036,974 
  Additions    291,846 21,973,560   4,846,064   27,111,470 

  March 31, 2009 5,583,627 74,125,120 42,439,697 122,148,444 

  Additions -       25,767,422 10,049,789 35,817,211 
    Disposals (  173,043)          -                  -         (       173,043) 

  March 31, 2010 5,410,584 99,892,542 52,489,486 157,793,612 

 Depreciation: 
  March 31, 2008 2,062,246 23,316,221 35,556,755 60,935,222 
  Charge for year 1,040,379 13,782,375   5,415,441   20,238,195 

  March 31, 2009 3,102,625 37,098,596 40,972,196   81,173,417 

Charge for year 753,317 15,802,408 7,136,542 23,692,267 
Eliminated on disposals (    173,043)         -                   -         (       173,043) 

  March 31, 2010 3,682,899 52,901,004 48,108,738 104,692,641 

 Net book values: 
  March 31, 2010 $1,727,685 46,991,538 4,380,748     53,099,971 

  March 31, 2009 $2,481,002 37,026,524   1,467,501   40,975,027 

  March 31, 2008 $3,229,535 28,835,339   2,036,878   34,101,752 

 

Office furniture and equipment and computer equipment donated by the Government of Jamaica 
(see note 1) were valued as at February 25, 2002 at a fair market valuation of $3,205,766 and 
$593,000, respectively, by Delano Reid & Associates Limited, Management Consultants, 
Engineers and Appraisers.  
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12. Pension scheme 
 
 Effective June 1, 1996, the Securities Commission commenced operations of a contributory 

pension scheme for employees who are eligible in accordance with the rules of the Plan.  On 
August 2, 2001, the Commission assumed responsibility for the Plan (see note 1). The Pension 
Plan portfolio was transferred from Sagicor Life to Prime Asset Management Limited as at 
November 30, 2009. 

 
 The scheme is a defined-contribution plan which is set up under trust and is administered by a 

life insurance company.   
 
 Contributions by the Commission for the year amounted to $9,348,878 (2009: $9,327,284). 
 

The scheme is subject to periodic actuarial reviews at intervals of not more than three years. The 
last actuarial review at May 31, 2008, disclosed Total Assets of $90.8 million and past service 
liabilities of $79.9 million resulting in a surplus of $10.9 million. The next valuation should be 
done no later than May 31, 2011. 
 

13. Insurance Licence Deposit 
 
 In accordance with Section 21 of the Insurance Act 2001, insurance companies, which operate in 

Jamaica, are required to deposit a prescribed amount with the Commission. 
  

As stated in Regulation 8 (1) of the Insurance Regulations, 2001, the minimum asset required to 
be deposited with the Commission by a registered insurer from commencement of operations in 
or from within Jamaica shall be: 
 

(a) in respect of an entity which proposes to carry on life or sickness and health insurance 
business, or both, ninety million dollars ($90,000,000); 

 

(b) in respect of an entity which proposes to carry on general insurance business, forty-five 
million dollars ($45,000,000). 

 

Regulation 9 (1) states that the value of securities deposited shall be estimated at their market 
value, not exceeding par, at the time they are deposited. 

 

 In February 2010, the Government of Jamaica introduced the Jamaica Debt Exchange (JDX), as 
a result of which the Commission had to return all securities to the Insurance Companies for 
them to participate in this exercise. The Insurance companies do not currently receive physical 
securities from the Bank of Jamaica but, instead, the information is received electronically. 
Hence, as at March 31, 2010, the Commission did not have any security deposits in its 
possession. In a letter, dated August 5, 2010, from the Bank of Jamaica, the Commission was 
advised as follows: 

 

1. Arrangements are being made for the interest of the Commission to be recorded in a 
JamClear-CSD account at the Bank of Jamaica (BOJ).  Insurance companies will be allowed 
to retain ownership of the securities, with the JamClear-CSD account reflecting the 
Commission’s interest in the said securities.  
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13. Insurance Licence Deposit (contd) 
 

2. This will be accomplished through the use of the JamClear-CSD pledge functionality, for 
registration of an interest in the instruments. This approach will provide the necessary 
assurances to the Commission that licensees are continuously in compliance with the 
regulatory requirements, while highlighting any default risks that may emerge through the 
reporting options available. 
 
In order to facilitate this process, the insurance company must either be a JamClear-CSD 
Participant or a client of a JamClear-CSD Participant. In addition, the Commission must be 
a client of the Bank of Jamaica to allow for the security interest to be reflected in the 
Commission’s JamClear-CSD account held in the BOJ.  As at March 31, 2010, securities so 
air marked amounted to $1,376 million and the securities remaining in the possession of the 
Commission amounted to $210.9 million (2009: $1,379 million) 

 
14. Financial instruments 
  

(a) Fair values: 
 

 The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, resale agreements, accounts receivable and 
prepayment, and accounts payable are assumed to approximate their carrying value due to 
their short-term nature. 

 
(b) Financial risk management: 

  
Exposure to various types of financial instrument risks arises in the ordinary course of the 
Commission’s business.  The Board of Commissioners has overall responsibility for the 
establishment and oversight of the Commission’s risk management framework.  Key 
management has responsibility for monitoring the Commission’s risk management policies. 

 
 Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arises in the ordinary course of the 

Commission’s business.  No derivative instruments are presently used to manage, mitigate 
or eliminate exposure to financial instrument risks. 

 
(i) Credit risk: 

 
Credit risk is the risk that one or both parties to the financial instruments will fail to 
discharge an obligation resulting in financial loss to one or both parties. 
 

The Commission maintains cash and short-term investments with one reputable 
financial institution and investments are made in repurchase agreements involving 
Government of Jamaica securities. 

 

At the balance sheet date, credit risk is concentrated in cash and cash equivalents, 
resale agreements and accounts receivable and the maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets as follows: 



 

 
14. Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (cont’d): 
 

(i) Credit risk (cont’d): 
 

  Carrying amount  

 2010 2009 
    $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents  17,743,434 37,597,721 
Resale agreements  242,303,271 138,815,810 
Accounts receivable (see note 4)   74,744,439 102,676,434 

   $334,791,144 279,089,965 

 
The Commission generally does not require collateral in respect of trade receivables.  
Trade receivables relate mainly to the amounts due from customers.  Management 
does not have a formal credit policy in place as the customer has been determined by 
entities that are registered under the relevant legislation administered by the 
Commission 

 
The aging of trade receivables at balance sheet date was: 

 
  2010 2009 

   $ $ 

 Past due 0-30 days  65,416,369 66,773,852 
Past due 30-60 days  350,000 1,601,400  
Past due 60-90 days  2,717,971 375,400       
Past due over 90 days          -           31,441,648 

   68,484,341 100,192,300 

Allowance for impairment losses         -         (    4,121,000) 

Trade receivables, net (note 4) $68,484,341   96,071,300 

 
(ii) Liquidity risk: 

 
Liquidity risk also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the Commission will 
encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial 
instruments.  Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset 
quickly at, or close to, its fair value.  Prudent liquidity risk management implies 
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.  The Commission manages 
this risk by maintaining a substantial portion of its financial assets in liquid form and 
is not authorised to borrow. 
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14. Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (cont’d): 
 
(iii) Market risk: 
 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, foreign 
exchange rates and equity prices will affect the value of the Commission’s assets, the 
amounts of its liabilities and/or the Commission’s income.  At the balance sheet date, 
the Commission did not have any significant exposure to foreign currency risk or 
equity prise risk. 

 

• Interest rate risk: 
 

Interest rate is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates.   

 
The Commission invests mainly in fixed interest rate bearing instruments and does 
not have any borrowings (See note 3). 

 
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

 
The Commission does not account for any fixed rate financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss.  Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date 
would not affect profit or loss. 

 

• Foreign currency risk: 
 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Commission incurs foreign currency risk primarily on amounts held in United 
States dollars (US$).  At March 31, 2010, foreign currency assets amounted to 
US$47,656.49 (2009: US$132,372). 

 
The exchange rate for US$1, in terms of Jamaica dollars, at balance sheet date, 
was $89.51 (2009: $87.95). 
 
The exchange rate at September 23, 2010 is $86.05.  

 
 (c) Capital management: 

 
The Commission is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
The Commissioners and management monitor the return on capital, which is defined as 
reserves. The Commission’s policy is to maintain adequate capital to sustain future 
development of the entity.    
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